Peer Support Services in Justice and Public Safety Settings:

A Planning and Implementation Tool Kit







This project was supported by Grant No. G1999ONDCP03A awarded by the Office of National Drug Control Policy, Executive Office of the President. Points of view or opinions in this document are those of the author and do not necessarily represent the official position or policies of the Office of National Drug Control Policy or the United States Government.

© 2023 Legislative Analysis and Public Policy Association.

This document is intended for informational purposes only and does not constitute legal advice or opinion. For questions about this document or the information contained herein, please contact LAPPA via email at info@thelappa.org.

Acknowledgments

The Legislative Analysis and Public Policy Association (LAPPA) is grateful to the Office of National Drug Control Policy, Executive Office of the President, for its support in funding, enabling, and contributing to this tool kit. LAPPA appreciates and acknowledges its invaluable partnership with Rulo Strategies LLC for its critical collaboration in developing this tool kit.

Tara Kunkel

Founder and Executive Director Rulo Strategies LLC Arlington, Virginia

Jana Braswell

Senior Behavioral Health/Criminal Justice Consultant Rulo Strategies LLC Arlington, Virginia

The development of this tool kit would not have been possible without the participation of the subject matter experts mentioned below. We thank them for their generous contributions and thoughtful commentary.

Kathryn Appenheimer

Peer Navigator
Erie County (NY) Probation

Lindsey Baker

Manager of Inmate Services

Butler County (OH) Sheriff's Department

Paul Bryant

Peer Recovery Coordinator

Jefferson County (AL) Specialty Courts

Bailey Davis

Director of Community Justice Programs
University of Alabama at Birmingham

Chief Terence Delehanty

Chief of Police

Winthrop (MA) Police Department

Erik Deiters

Program Coordinator

Mentoring and Peer Support Program

Jail Behavioral Health and Reentry Services

San Francisco, California

Caitlyn Fulcher

Recovery House Administrator, CPRS **True Recovery RVA**Richmond, Virginia

Jennifer Gaddis

Assistant Director of Community Justice Programs
University of Alabama at Birmingham

Lieutenant Sarko Gergerian

Community and Law Enforcement Assisted
Recovery Program Director
Winthrop (MA) Police Department

Bailey Hilliard

Inmate Rehabilitation Programs Manager Chesterfield County (VA) Jail

Bryan Hinman

Associate Director of Court Treatment Programs

Chestnut Health System

McLean County, Illinois

John Hubble

Problem-Solving Court Coordinator
McLean County (IL) Probation

Meredith Hurley

Director of Public Health
Winthrop (MA) Health Department

April Hutchison

Reentry Coordinator
Chesterfield County (VA) Jail

Danielle Jones

Deputy Probation Officer for Behavioral Health Courts
San Francisco (CA) Adult Probation Department

Yvette Lampley

Community Behavioral Health Services Butler County, Ohio

Tiffany Lombardo

Associate Executive Director of Addiction Services
Butler County (OH) Mental Health and
Addiction Recovery Services Board

Melissa Mayhew

Officer, Erie County (NY) Probation

Jess McCarthy-Nickila

Coordinator/Peer Recovery Specialist **Duluth (MN) Police Department**

Ida McElhaney

Director, Sevier County (TN) Probation Department

Dennis McGuire

Deputy Director

McLean County (IL) Probation

Chip McHugh

Peer Recovery Coach
Winthrop (MA) Health Department

Yolanda Morrissette

Mental Health Peer Specialist

Mentoring and Peer Support Program

Jail Behavioral Health and Reentry Services

San Francisco, California

Nicole Ogle

Sevier County Director of Alcohol and Drug Programs Executive Director Sevier County Coalition for Addiction Recovery and Education Services

Danielle Poe

Director of Behavioral Health

Adams County (OH) Health Department

Ryan Newsome

Social Services Coordinator
Franklin County (OH) Office of
Justice Policy and Programs

Melissa Pierson

Chief Operating Officer
Franklin County (OH) Office of
Justice Policy and Programs

Jacob Revis

Peer Recovery Specialist

Comprehensive Opioid Abuse Program/
Comprehensive Opioid, Stimulant, and
Substance Abuse Program Initiatives
Jefferson County, Alabama

Colleen Reilly

Peer Support Supervisor

Community Behavioral Health Services

Butler County, Ohio

Anita Robillard

Program Coordinator
Erie County (NY) Probation

Jane Rupp

Jail Diversion Clinician

Boston (MA) Medical Center

Dorothy Smith

Peer Recovery Specialist

Community Corrections Program

Jefferson County, Alabama

Crystal Snodderly

Program Director, NCPRSS **True Recovery RVA**Richmond, Virginia

Allyson West

Director, Collaborative Justice Programs
San Francisco (CA) Superior Court

Marcia White

Peer Support Coordinator
Impact Community Action/Office of
Justice Policy and Programs
Franklin County, Ohio

Suggested citation: Kunkel, T. & Braswell, J. Rulo Strategies. (2023). Peer Support Services in Justice and Public Safety Settings: A Planning and Implementation Tool Kit. Washington, DC: Legislative Analysis and Public Policy Association.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction.	7
What is a Peer Support Worker?	7
How are Peer Support Workers Used in Justice and Public Safety Settings?	7
Why Provide Peer Support Services in Justice and Public Safety Settings?	8
What is in This Tool Kit?	9
Chapter 2: Planning for Peer Support Services in Justice and Public Safety Settings	11
Defining the Role of the Peer Support Worker	12
Differentiating Peer Support Services from Clinical Services	13
Differentiating Peer Support Workers from 12-Step Sponsors	14
Caseload Size	14
Preparing Existing Staff Members	14
Mandating Peer Support Services	15
No-Cost Technical Assistance	16
Medicaid Coverage for Peer Support Services	17
Certification	19
Federal Grant Funding for Peer Support Programs	19
Chapter 3: Recruitment, Orientation, and Supervision of Peers	21
Recruiting Peer Support Workers	21
Addressing Criminal History and Security Background Checks	21
Peer Support Worker Compensation and Career Growth	22
Sobriety Requirements When Hiring	23
Interviewing Candidates	23
Orientation and Onboarding	23
Philosophical Differences	24
Confidentiality, Privacy, and Disclosures	24
Supervision of Peer Support Workers	25

Chapter 4: Implementation Issues	29
Ethics in Peer Support	29
Boundaries	30
Compassion Fatigue	30
Burnout	32
Peer Drift	32
Safety Considerations for Community-Based Work	33
Measuring Impact	34
Appendix A: Peer Support Job Titles	36
Appendix B: Organizational Readiness Checklist	37
Appendix C: Peer Support Roles and Responsibilities	39
Appendix D: Sample Peer Support Specialist Job Descriptions	42
Appendix E: Sample Peer Support Worker Interview Questions	50
Appendix F: Sample Release of Information Form	52
Appendix G: Ethics in Peer Service Settings: Personal Checklist	53
Appendix H: Measuring Compassion Fatique and Compassion Satisfaction	55
Appendix I: Safety Tips for Peer Support Workers in the Community and Home	56
Appendix J: Measuring the Impact of Peer Support Services	58
References	59
Endnotes	63

CHAPTER 1:

Introduction

The term *peer support services* refers to nonclinical assistance provided by individuals with lived experience of similar conditions. Peer support is grounded in the principle that individuals who have shared, similar experiences can help themselves and each other. Peer support services leverage resources that already exist in the community, including many people with lived experience who seek opportunities to serve their communities.

Peer support services are flexible and tailored to the individual. Peer support services may be offered before an individual enters treatment, as an adjunct to treatment, or can take place after treatment. Individuals who choose not to participate in treatment may also engage with a peer support worker.

What is a Peer Support Worker?

A peer support worker is "an individual with lived experience of a mental health or substance use disorder trained, and in many cases certified by their state, to provide peer support services."

Peer support workers selected to work in justice and public safety settings may also have previous involvement in the justice system. "Peer support worker" is the umbrella term used throughout this tool kit to reference various professionals who provide peer support services. Other professional titles that describe individuals who offer peer support services include peer support specialists, peer coaches, peer workers, advocates, and forensic peer support workers. Appendix A provides a comprehensive overview of peer support job definitions and designations. One of the most common types of peer support offered in justice settings is peer recovery support, which is nonclinical assistance by persons with lived experience of similar conditions to initiate, pursue, and sustain a person's long-term recovery.²



Our experience gives us the credentials to sit at that table and work with people. But we also know that our role is to listen and use motivational interviewing skills to walk alongside and help folks find their voice in their treatment planning because that's where people sustain their recovery. We give participants a sense of agency.

Peer Support Worker

How are Peer Support Workers Used in Justice and Public Safety Settings?

Justice and public safety settings, including law enforcement, courts, jails, and probation agencies, integrate peer support workers into their programs. Figure 1 below, developed by Policy Research Associates, illustrates the variety of opportunities for peer support workers to work with individuals with mental health or substance use disorders at different intercepts of the criminal justice system.³

Figure 1: Peer Support Roles Across the Sequential Intercept Model

	Intercept 0	Intercept 1	Intercep	t 2	Intercept 3	Intercept 4	Intercept 5	
	Community Service	Law Enforcement	Initial Detentior Court Heari		Jails & Courts	Reentry	Community Corrections	
	Crisis/Warm Lines	9-1-1 Dispatch	Initial Detention					>
COMMUNITY		ent Deflection/ Programs			Courts			COMMUNITY
COM	Crisis Care	Continuum	V	‡	Jail/Prison Reentry		UNITY	
	Mobile Cr	Service		Pretrial Services/ Initial Court Appearance	Jail Prison		Probation/	
	Crisis Stablization Centers/ Hospitals						Parole	
	Intercept 0	Intercept 1	Intercep	t 2	Intercept 3	Intercept 4	Intercept 5	
	Peer support workers conduct general and targeted public outreach, operate crisis lines, serve on mobile crisis outreach teams, post-overdose response teams, or law enforcement deflection/ diversion teams.	Peer support workers serve on Crisis Intervention Teams (CIT) and related law enforcement deflection/ diversion teams.	Peer support workers provi peer support services to individuals involved in prosecutor diversion or pretrial divers programs.	ide	Peer support workers serve on treatment court teams and work in corrections settings.	Peer support workers provide reentry support and work with individuals as they transition from correctional settings to the community.	Peer support workers provide services to individuals on probation or parole.	

Adapted from Policy Research Associates Peer Support Roles Across the Sequential Intercept Model

Why Provide Peer Support Services in Justice and Public Safety Settings?

Research has found that participating in peer support services may:

- Reduce relapse rates⁴
- Increase engagement in treatment⁵
- Improve treatment attendance/treatment adherence⁶
- Improve perceptions of social support and quality of life, and reduce feelings of guilt and shame among individuals reentering the community from corrections settings⁷
- Reduce recidivism⁸
- Lead to longer stays in the community for those with co-occurring serious mental illness and substance use disorders⁹
- Reduce stigma.¹⁰



I never thought that I would be doing something like this where I would take all of the hardships and the stuff that I've been through and turn that around into power. I feel very empowered and grateful and honored that I have this job.

Peer Support Worker

Several studies have indicated there are benefits for peer support workers. For example, in mental health treatment settings, one study found that peer support workers reported increased self-confidence, a greater sense of identity, increased self-efficacy, and the development of skills and knowledge relating to human services. A second study found that peer support workers experienced increased social capital, the development of prosocial relationships with fellow peer workers, and enhanced opportunities for career growth and employment.

What is in This Tool Kit?

This tool kit is for justice and public safety practitioners planning to implement peer support services in law enforcement agencies, court-based programs, community supervision agencies, and correctional settings. Each section of the tool kit offers critical questions to address during the planning and implementation phase, case studies, tools, and resources drawn from the latest research, subject matter experts, and experiences from diverse settings across the United States.

Materials found in the tool kit include:

- Profiles of justice and public safety implementations of peer support programs
- Sample roles and responsibilities of peer support workers
- Links to sample job descriptions and interview questions
- Strategies to address common implementation challenges
- Sample forms for intake and consent to share information
- Links to assessment tools

The University of Alabama at Birmingham Community Justice Programs

University of Alabama's School of Medicine, Department of Psychiatry Jefferson County, Alabama

The University of Alabama's Community Justice Programs (CJP) is a unique clinical, community, and academic collaboration model housed in a university setting. The CJP operates various problem-solving courts in Jefferson County, Alabama, including Jefferson County's Drug Court, Veterans Treatment Court, and Mental Health Court. The CJP integrates peer support workers into each of its programs. Peers engage participants in programming, connecting participants to resources, providing one-on-one support for participants upon release from incarceration, and planning and facilitating recovery support groups, activities, and events.

Local treatment courts began integrating peer support services into their programs around 2005. Initially, there was some confusion regarding the roles and responsibilities of the peer recovery specialists and how they were different from case managers. Peer recovery specialists were frequently assigned "busy work" and other tasks to lessen the workload of case managers, which created tension. The program director worked with the courts to clarify the role of the peer recovery specialists and how recovery services were different from case management services and activities. Peer recovery specialists began to participate in staffing meetings alongside the judge, case managers, and attorneys, which also helped clarify and distinguish the roles and responsibilities of the peer recovery specialists.



I think that people have come a long way and now realize how much peers can bring to the table, how much they can do that is more than a case manager can as far as engaging the client, making that relationship, and giving them the support they need.

Program Manager

Confidentiality was another issue that required attention. Supervisors worked with case managers and peers to ensure that all parties understood what information they were and were not required to share. Another challenge the peers faced was maintaining professionalism while remaining authentic to themselves and their clients. Many individuals hired to perform peer recovery services had limited or no experience working in a professional capacity. It was easy to fall into conversation patterns that, while authentic, could be perceived as unprofessional. Supervisors now regularly discuss ethics, professionalism, and boundaries in the context of recovery during supervision.

CHAPTER 2:

Planning

for Peer Support Services in **Justice and Public Safety Settings**

KEY QUESTIONS

- What role will peer support workers play within our organization?
- What tasks will peer support workers perform?
- How will we differentiate clinical services from peer support services?
- How will we determine caseload size?
- · How will we fund peer support services?
- What local or national resources are available to support our agency?

Chapter 2 addresses questions agencies should answer in the planning phase of building peer support services in a justice or public safety setting. <u>Appendix B</u> contains an *Organizational Readiness Checklist* that reinforces concepts covered in this chapter. At the outset of planning a peer support program, justice and public safety agency leaders should familiarize themselves with the principles and values of peer support.

The National Association of Peer Supporters developed the <u>National Practice Guidelines for Peer Specialists and Supervisors</u> which recognizes the following 12 core values of peer support:

- 1. Peer support is voluntary
- 2. Peer supporters are hopeful
- 3. Peer supporters are open-minded
- 4. Peer supporters are empathetic
- 5. Peer supporters are respectful
- 6. Peer supporters facilitate change
- 7. Peer supporters are honest and direct

- 8. Peer support is mutual and reciprocal
- Peer support is based on equally shared power
- 10. Peer support is strengths-focused
- 11. Peer support is transparent
- 12. Peer support is person-driven

During the planning phase, justice and public safety agencies frequently partner with a treatment agency that has experience with peer support services or a peer-run recovery organization in the community. These partnerships offer several benefits, including:¹³

- Assistance in developing the peer support worker role. Experts from peer-led organizations
 can play a role in visioning a new peer support role, providing support and feedback on job
 descriptions, and providing expertise on what makes peer support unique.
- Access to peer support-specific information. Peer support experts are up to date on the
 current academic literature in the field and are aware of the emerging trends. Peer-led
 organizations are also familiar with service delivery from a lived experience lens and can help
 peer support workers stay grounded in peer support practices.
- Training for peer workers. Many peer support organizations offer training opportunities for new peer workers and allow new staff to learn from experienced peer workers.
- Access to a community of peer workers. Peer workers benefit from connecting with others
 in similar roles. Many peer organizations have communities of practice that bring peer support
 workers together to share resources and support each other.
- Access to supportive supervision for peer support workers. Receiving supervision from someone with expertise in peer services can help peer support workers maintain the integrity of peer support.

Program administrators must decide which agency will employ the peer support staff. Many justice and public safety agencies elect to partner with a treatment agency or a peer-led organization for this service rather than employ peer support workers directly. Leveraging the expertise of experienced agencies can be extremely helpful during the implementation phase. If possible, justice or public safety agencies should also avoid hiring only one peer support worker to work in their agency. Having a single peer provider makes it challenging to integrate peer support into the agency and places a great deal of pressure on the peer support worker.

Defining the Role of the Peer Support Worker

Peer support workers perform a variety of functions in different settings.¹⁴ Organizations that successfully implement peer services clearly define the role of the peer support worker.¹⁵ Justice and public safety agencies should carefully review *Table 1* and <u>Appendix C</u> and develop a position description for a peer support worker in their agency.

Table 1: Common Functions of Peer Support Workers

Peer Function	Description
Assertive Outreach	Peer support workers conduct outreach to individuals who have never received services or have become disconnected from services and may benefit from being re-engaged.
Advocacy	Peer support workers advocate for participants both within their organization and within the broader community. They also engage in formal advocacy efforts to reduce stigma, increase access to services, and increase the breadth and quality of services.
Linking to Community Resources	Peer support workers identify and develop recovery resources, including employment, housing, and childcare. Peer workers link people to community resources and help them navigate health and social service systems.

Peer Function	Description
Companionship and Modeling	Peer support workers provide social support and assist clients in developing a recovery support network. They may also offer recreational opportunities in the community.
Recovery Planning	Peer support workers help individuals address and cope with behavioral health challenges and integrate into the community by developing individualized recovery plans. For example, a peer support worker might help a client create and use a Wellness Recovery Action Plan to recognize early warning signs and follow personal goals to recovery.
Recovery-Focused Skills Training	Peer support workers facilitate life-skills groups to reinforce new skills, such as problem-solving.
Ongoing Recovery Management	Peer support workers provide support through various avenues (e.g., in person, by telephone, through text messages).
Crisis Support	Peer support workers provide critical support during challenging times by sharing their lived experiences and assertively connecting people with needed resources.

Adapted from the Philadelphia Department of Behavioral Health and Intellectual Disabilities Services and Achara Consulting Inc. <u>Peer Support Toolkit</u>

Appropriate tasks for peer support workers allow the peer support worker to use his or her lived experience and provide an opportunity to connect with individuals in a way that builds rapport and facilitates connection.¹⁶ *Table 2* provides an example of an appropriate and inappropriate task for a peer worker.

Table 2: Example of an Appropriate Task for a Peer Support Worker

Example of a task appropriate for a peer support worker	Example of a task not appropriate for a peer support worker
The peer support worker is asked to drive a participant to a doctor's appointment and provide support. On the drive to the doctor's office, the peer support worker and the participant discuss communicating with the doctor about medication side effects. The peer support worker shares his or her lived experience with respect to communicating with doctors about medication concerns.	The peer support worker is asked to drive a participant to a doctor's appointment and wait in the parking lot. The peer support worker does not know the individual, and there is no intended ongoing connection between the participant and the peer support worker.

Adapted from Phillips, K., Harrison, J, & Jabalee, C. <u>Supervising Peer Workers: A Toolkit for Implementing and Supporting Successful Peer Staff Roles in Mainstream Mental Health and Substance Use/Addiction Organizations</u>

It is essential to avoid using peer support workers as a substitute for case aides, case managers, errand runners, van drivers, or community supervision officers. These other roles diminish the value of a peer support worker's role, create role ambiguity, and are beyond one's education, training, and experience. It may be helpful to have a technical assistance provider or organization with established peer support programs in your community review the draft position description and offer feedback.

Differentiating Peer Support Services from Clinical Services

Peer support services are not a replacement for clinical care. Although some of the activities performed by clinicians or case managers may mirror activities performed by peer support workers, the role of the peer is distinctly different. *Table 3* compares the role of a peer support worker and the role of clinical staff.

Table 3: The Role of Peer Support Workers Versus Clinical Staff

Peer Support Workers	Clinical Staff
 Primarily draw on lived experience Provide emotional and practical support Establish mutual and reciprocal relationships Bridge the "them" and "us" divide Build hope and model recovery May co-facilitate nonclinical groups Inspire others, offering "images of hope." Model appropriate disclosure 	 Primarily draw on professional knowledge, skills, and expertise Conduct assessments and determine diagnoses Provide clinical interventions, treatment, and support Provide information about diagnosis and treatment Assess and manage risk from a professional perspective Ensure that legal responsibilities and professional accountabilities are covered Maintain case documentation

Adapted from Repper, J. Peer Support Workers: A Practical Guide to Implementation

Differentiating Peer Support Workers from 12-Step Sponsors

Sponsors working within the 12-Step framework help those in early recovery understand and follow the specific guidance of the 12-Step program. In contrast, peer support workers help individuals choose which recovery pathway(s) work for them.

Caseload Size

When establishing an appropriate and reasonable caseload size for a peer support worker, it is essential to consider the responsibilities of the peer and the complexity of the needs of the clients in your program. A typical caseload size for a peer expected to conduct weekly check-ins, in-person meetings in the office or the field, case documentation, and the like can fall within the 20–30 range. Justice and public safety agencies should consider caseload size when planning for resources to avoid burnout. Try not to have only one peer support worker in your program.

Preparing Existing Staff Members



Some people in the field have the attitude of 'lived experience, whoop-de-do, you don't have a college degree.' I hear that sometimes, but I don't let that define me. I love working with the probation team because they get it.

Peer Support Worker

Peer support services are less successful when there is a lack of staff understanding of peer support workers or staff have reservations about hiring peer support workers.¹⁷ During the planning phase, agency or program leaders should provide training for existing staff that describes how peer support services will be incorporated into the agency and/or program. Orientation for existing staff should also include training on the philosophy of peer support, how peer support is unique, stigma, and how peer services can impact program outcomes. As part of the training, consider inviting peer support workers from programs similar to the one you are developing to speak to the staff. The peer support workers should discuss their role within their program, their impact on clients, and lessons learned from their work.

It is also essential to acknowledge and address underlying concerns staff may have. For example, peer support workers may face skepticism from other staff about their ability to maintain sobriety, or there may be concerns that peer support staff will not maintain confidentiality. The Peer Support Toolkit developed by the City of Philadelphia includes a module on assessing common peer staff concerns for peer and non-peer staff that is a resource for managing these difficult conversations. This type of training helps set the stage for new employees to view peers as colleagues and co-workers.

Mandating Peer Support Services

The first core value of peer support is that people freely choose to give or receive support. Being court-ordered to participate in peer support services goes against the nature of genuine peer support. As such, justice and public safety agencies should avoid mandating peer support services.

CASE STUDY

Community Care Coordinator within the Sheriff's Office, Probation Department, and County Court

The Adams County Health Department | Adams County, Ohio

In 2018, the Adams County Health Department received an opioid rural health grant from the Health Resources and Services Administration, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, enabling the health department to develop a new behavioral division to increase treatment services. The health department used this initial grant to establish partnerships with justice stakeholders that did not previously exist, provide cross-sector training, and develop new programming, including building linkages to treatment and a new, streamlined referral process for individuals leaving jail. In 2019, the health department received a Comprehensive Opioid, Stimulant, and Substance Abuse Program (COSSAP) grant from the Bureau of Justice Assistance, which allowed the health department to initiate a peer support program.

Peer support services did not exist in Adams County before the COSSAP grant, and initially, there was some concern about the health department's ability to recruit peers. Nonetheless, the health department was successful in recruiting through Facebook and an advertisement in the local newspaper. One peer works specifically with justice-involved individuals who are court-involved or incarcerated. Three additional peers work with the county's quick response team operated by the health department. The peer support worker also shadowed the coordinators working in the courts and jail to learn how each system works and interfaces with clients.

As a small community, the health department assumed that everyone would immediately be on board with the program, which was not the case. Although the health department initiated the grant, it was essential to engage justice leaders to co-develop services and talk openly about the concerns and the differences in perspectives of all parties. Recognizing these different perspectives while working towards a common goal has strengthened the program.

No-Cost Technical Assistance

Technical assistance is available to support and encourage efforts to integrate peers across criminal justice programs and systems. Below is a list of current technical assistance opportunities designed to provide mentorship, training, and implementation support.

Peer Recovery Support Services Mentoring Initiative

Funded by the U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Assistance

The Peer Recovery Support Services Mentoring Initiative (PRSSMI) provides support to justice and public safety agencies planning a peer support program or wanting to enhance an existing program. New or early-stage programs are matched with experienced programs and provided consultation and support from the staff of the experienced programs. This technical assistance is offered at no cost to the mentee site and is available to any public safety or justice organization.

Further details on the PRSSMI program and application process are available on the Mentor Program FAQs.

Opioid Response Network

Funded by the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration

With consultants located in all 50 states and the District of Columbia, the Opioid Response Network provides free education, training, and educational resources tailored specifically to states, communities, health care systems, clinics, and individuals working to address the opioid crisis. These local consultants work directly with programs to address various needs including education and training for the prevention, treatment, or recovery of opioid use disorders, stimulant use, and other substance use disorders.

To make a request for technical assistance, complete this form.

Bringing Recovery Supports to Scale Technical Assistance Center Strategy Project (BRSS TACS)

Funded by the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA)

SAMHSA's BRSS TACS project was founded in 2011 to support programs, systems, states, territories, and tribes in their effort to implement recovery supports and services. Recovery supports, tools, and resources can be found on their website.



Having spent so many years being worried about being arrested, it was nerve-wracking being introduced to the officers as a recovery coach. There's stigma attached to people who have an addiction, but I realized I also held stigma towards the police. Those barriers had to be broken down. It is a work in progress but I'm appreciative that I've gained the trust and confidence of many of the police officers in the town.

Peer Recovery Coach

Community and Law Enforcement Assisted Recovery (CLEAR) Program

Winthrop Police Department | Winthrop, Massachusetts

The Winthrop Community and Law Enforcement Assisted Recovery (CLEAR) program is a partnership between the Winthrop Department of Health and Clinical Services and the Winthrop Police Department. The program began in 2014 and hired its first peer recovery coaches in 2015. The goal of the CLEAR program is to connect individuals with substance use and/or mental health disorders to treatment and support. The CLEAR program emphasizes a multidisciplinary approach to help people with housing difficulties, food scarcity, domestic violence, mental health, and substance use disorders. The CLEAR program is a peer mentor site of the U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Assistance.

To support program participants, the police department partners with nonprofit organizations and community partners to provide taxi vouchers for transportation, childcare, and other supports to reduce barriers to participation in treatment. CLEAR program staff members are housed at the Massachusetts Department of Public Health to meet with program staff in an environment less intimidating than the police department and offers privacy. The CLEAR program also partners with the Boston Medical Center which provides services and supervision.

Initially, some officers did not fully embrace the CLEAR program. Over time, the agency's culture shifted, and support for the program grew. Part of the buy-in resulted from program staff demonstrating to the officers that the CLEAR program would reduce officers' workload by addressing the needs of individuals that comprised a large portion of their service calls. The Winthrop Police Department trained police personnel on the benefits of peer recovery support, mental health first aid, crisis intervention training, and naloxone administration. This training has been instrumental in educating officers that addiction is a disease and not a moral failing.

Medicaid Coverage for Peer Support Services

In 2007, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services issued guidance to state Medicaid directors on coverage of peer support services for individuals with behavioral health conditions.¹⁹ This guidance outlined the requirements for states seeking federal Medicaid reimbursement for peer support services.

THE CENTERS FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVICES' GUIDANCE ON MEDICAID COVERAGE OF PEER SUPPORT SERVICES

Peer support services can be offered to beneficiaries with either mental health or substance use disorders. States may choose to deliver peer support services through several Medicaid funding authorities, including the state plan rehabilitative services option and Section 1915(b) or 1915(c) waivers. State Medicaid agencies have the authority to determine the service delivery system, medical necessity criteria, and the scope of peer support services. However, when states seek federal financial participation for peer support services, they must address certain minimum service requirements:

- Supervision. Peer support service providers must be supervised by a competent mental health professional, as defined by the state. The amount, duration, and scope of supervision may range from direct oversight to periodic care consultation.
- Care coordination. Peer support services must be coordinated within the context of an
 individualized plan of care for the beneficiary. States should use a person-centered planning
 process that helps promote beneficiary ownership of the plan of care. Plans of care must
 also include specific, individualized goals that have measurable results.
- Training and credentialing. Peer support providers must obtain training which must
 provide peer support providers with a basic set of competencies and certification as defined
 by the state. The peer must demonstrate the ability to support the recovery of others from
 mental illness or substance use disorders. Ongoing continuing educational requirements
 for peer support providers must also be in place.

Peer Recovery Services in Jails, Peer Recovery Services in Local Emergency Departments, and the Butler County Hopeline

Butler County Mental Health and Addiction Recovery Services Board | Butler County, Ohio

The Butler County (OH) Mental Health and Addiction Recovery Services Board supports three initiatives involving peer recovery specialists: peer recovery services in jails, peer recovery services in local emergency departments, and the Butler County Hopeline, a call-in service that connects individuals to treatment services. Program partners include the Butler County Mental Health and Addiction Recovery Services Board, the Butler County Sheriff's Department, Community Behavioral Health, and a local hospital emergency department. One peer recovery specialist works in the emergency room, one works in the jail, and additional peer recovery specialists support the Butler County Hopeline.

The jail-based program began in 2017, with funding from the state, to improve linkages to treatment and services for inmates as they transitioned back into the community. The peer support worker facilitates weekly groups and assists individuals with the transition from jail to the community. The manager of inmate services oversees all contracted services inside the jail, including peer support services. However, the peer support worker is a Butler County Mental Health and Addiction Recovery Services Board employee. Since peer support was new in the jail, the staff supervisor received a four-hour training related to supervising peer staff. The training included strategies for educating other staff and employees in the jail about the peer's role and function. The manager of inmate services provided the peer recovery specialist with a jail orientation, and the peer recovery specialist receives ongoing supervision.

The Mental Health and Addiction Recovery Services Board and the jail have built a strong relationship through collaboration, creating a cultural shift in the jail. Over time, jail staff began to view inmates with behavioral health needs with empathy and were more willing to refer individuals to treatment and peer support services than previously.

As of 2018, 41 states and the District of Columbia were receiving federal Medicaid reimbursement for the services provided by peer support specialists.²⁰ The service provider must be credentialed through a statewide training program to receive Medicaid coverage for peer support services.²¹ Of particular importance to justice and public safety programs, some state Medicaid programs only allow providers to deliver services in clinical settings, such as outpatient behavioral health clinics.²²

Certification

The first state-recognized certification programs began in 2001. As of 2020, 48 states and the District of Colombia have developed or are creating a state certification process.²³ Some statewide peer support worker programs are assessment-based certificate programs that provide training and then evaluate whether applicants achieved the learning objectives of that training through an examination to receive certification.²⁴ Other programs are professional certification programs that assess applicants against predetermined knowledge, skills, or competencies.²⁵ The certifying body is independent of, and is not responsible for, the training process in professional certification programs. Once in the workforce, peer support workers frequently receive additional training (e.g., motivational interviewing or traumainformed care) from individuals in various professions and with diverse academic backgrounds.²⁶

Federal Grant Funding for Peer Support Programs

Peer support services are allocated federal funding through several competitive grant programs and state block grants. These grants are administered by various federal agencies, including the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and the Bureau of Justice Assistance, U.S. Department of Justice. *Table 4* describes grant opportunities that fund peer support services in justice and public safety settings.

Table 4: Sample Funding Sources to Support Peer Services in Justice Settings

Source	Eligibility	Description
Department of Justice Comprehensive Opioid, Stimulant, and Substance Abuse Program (COSSAP)	States, local governments, and tribes	COSSAP provides resources to develop, implement, or expand comprehensive efforts to identify, respond to, treat, and support those impacted by illicit opioids, stimulants, and other drugs of abuse.
Department of Justice Adult Drug Court and Veterans Treatment Court Discretionary Grant Program	States, local governments, and tribes	This program provides resources to state, local, and federally recognized tribal governments to implement or enhance drug court programs and systems for nonviolent offenders and veterans with a substance use disorder.
Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration First Responders- Comprehensive Addiction and Recovery Act Grants	States, local governments, and tribes	This program provides resources to first responders and members of other key community sectors to administer naloxone and establish processes, protocols, and mechanisms for referral to appropriate treatment and recovery support services.

Source	Eligibility	Description
Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration State Opioid Response Grants	States and territories	This program aims to address the opioid crisis by increasing access to medication-assisted treatment using the three U.S. Food and Drug Administration-approved medications for the treatment of opioid use disorder, reducing unmet treatment needs, and reducing opioid overdose-related deaths through the provision of prevention, treatment, and recovery activities for opioid use disorder (including illicit use of prescription opioids, heroin, and fentanyl and its analogs). This program also supports evidence-based prevention, treatment, and recovery support services to address stimulant misuse and use disorders, including cocaine and methamphetamine.

Lake Superior Diversion and Substance Use Response Team

Duluth Police Department | Duluth, Minnesota

The Lake Superior Diversion and Substance Use Response Team is a law enforcement-based peer recovery program operated by the Duluth Police Department. The Response Team, which serves St. Louis, Carlton, and Lake counties in Minnesota and the city of Superior in Wisconsin, provides expedited access to screening, assessment, and linkage to treatment and recovery services. The region has a population of approximately 289,727 people. Individuals served by the program are referred by police officers or identified while in jail or the community.

The program began in 2018. Initially, the program was a post-overdose outreach program with one full-time peer recovery specialist. It has expanded to serve individuals on probation and parole, those in custody, and those reentering the community after incarceration. In 2020, the Duluth Police Department received grant funding to support a second peer recovery specialist and a licensed alcohol and drug counselor. The Duluth Police Department employs peer recovery specialists, and the City of Duluth manages the recruitment and hiring of all positions.

Initially, the police department did not assign a dedicated officer to the program. It relied on a cadre of officers who were paid overtime to work with the peer recovery specialist to conduct outreach. Officers working with the peers were not consistent, which made institutionalizing the program within the agency a challenge. Grant funding allowed the department to assign a full-time officer to the program, which provided continuity, helping the peer better understand the agency's culture and build trust among other officers initially skeptical of the program. A full-time officer also helped to orient the peer and improve access to data and case information.

As the program developed, the city created a data management system to track referrals and program outcomes, including the number of assessments performed, referrals made to treatment, and referrals that resulted in enrollment. The City of Duluth has a standardized release of information that allows for the exchange of health information between city and county agencies and treatment providers.

INTRODUCTION

CHAPTER 3:

Recruitment,

Orientation, and Supervision of Peers

KEY QUESTIONS

- · How can we recruit and hire peer support workers?
- How should we orient and onboard peer support workers?
- How should peer support workers be supervised?

Recruiting Peer Support Workers

There are various approaches that justice and public safety agencies can take to recruit applicants for peer support worker positions. Agencies may post the job vacancy as they would any other position or identify previous clients/participants as candidates for the position. A prior history of substance use, mental health treatment, and/or justice involvement is frequently a job qualification for peer support workers. Agencies should work closely with their human resources department to develop a job description and recruitment strategy that considers applicable laws, regulations, and agency policies. Appendix D provides sample job descriptions that can be adapted by justice and public safety agencies as needed.

The job advertisement should explicitly state that the peer support worker will be working in a criminal justice agency so applicants can determine their comfort level working in that setting. Many peers have previous experiences interacting with law enforcement, being incarcerated, or being on probation and may not be comfortable working in that setting. Other applicants may be highly motivated to work in that environment.

Addressing Criminal History and Security Background Checks

In some states, having a criminal history can be a barrier to the certification of a peer support worker and/or employment in criminal justice settings. Identifying potential obstacles and remedies before initiating the hiring process is critical. A peer support worker's criminal history may also impact his or her ability to access sensitive law enforcement information, which may be necessary to work in a public safety or justice setting. Coordinating with the security staff and examining existing policies related to background checks is a critical component of launching a successful peer program in a public safety or justice setting.

Helping Addicts Recover Progressively Program

Chesterfield County Sheriff's Office | Chesterfield County, Virginia

The Helping Addicts Recover Progressively (HARP) program began in 2016 in the Chesterfield County Jail in Chesterfield County, Virginia. HARP is a jail-based peer recovery program for men and women with opioid use disorders and other substance use disorders. The program operates in two phases. Phase I takes approximately six months to complete and consists of peer-to-peer recovery, skills training, professional recovery, and discharge planning. Phase II is based on an individual's need and eligibility to participate in alternative sentencing such as work release and home incarceration.

The Chesterfield County Sheriff's Office initially created the HARP program for men. Based on HARP's initial success, they established a separate program for women within one year. A HARP program coordinator, a jail reentry coordinator, and four contract peer recovery specialists work with the program. The jail also employs a full-time doctor who provides information and education about substance use disorders and prescribes medications for addiction treatment, as necessary. Select deputies are assigned to work in the program. As part of orientation to work in the HARP program, new deputies shadow existing staff for a week or two. Deputies receive trauma-informed care and mental health first aid training.

Peer recovery specialists are paid hourly as contractors using canteen funds. Retaining peer staff has proved to be a challenge since the positions are not full-time, salaried positions, and many individuals leave to secure higher-paying jobs. The jail is exploring ways to address this and has considered providing higher wages and expanding the role.

A unique component of HARP is that individuals can continue to participate in the program after they transition into the community. Former participants of the HARP program are allowed to return to the jail daily to participate in the peer-to-peer recovery sessions, which is a unique aspect of the program. A HARP alumni Facebook page, managed by the HARP team, also provides an opportunity for alumni to stay connected and support each other in their recovery as they transition back into the community. HARP alumni are active in the local peer recovery community, and a large percentage of HARP alumni have gone on to assume leadership roles in local peer-run organizations.

Peer Support Worker Compensation and Career Growth

Retention of peer support workers is an ongoing problem for many agencies. In many areas of the country, pay rates for peer support workers are low. Peer support workers are often hired as contract workers and receive no benefits. Peer support workers may not receive regular performance evaluations or opportunities for professional growth within an organization. The lack of opportunities for professional development can result in low morale and low job satisfaction. These issues are important considerations as you work with human resource staff to compensate peer support workers appropriately.

Sobriety Requirements When Hiring

State peer certification programs vary significantly in the lengths of time required for personal recovery and how "recovery" is defined.²⁷ Most states require a length of time in recovery, between one to two years, before someone can work as a certified peer support worker. State certification boards in New York, lowa, and Connecticut do not specifically require that the individual is in recovery to qualify as a peer recovery coach. At the same time, Rhode Island and Oregon only recommend that individuals be in recovery, but there is no legal mandate.²⁸ Alaska, Arizona, Delaware, and Ohio require that the individual be in recovery but do not specify a length of time. Texas provides an interesting example, with state standards defining recovery as "self-directed recovery" or "the point at which an individual takes proactive steps to plan and implement their recovery."²⁹ The Americans with Disabilities Act does not prevent employers from denying candidates due to *current* illegal drug use, but, in certain circumstances, it may prohibit the employer from firing or not hiring an individual due to a *history* of a substance use disorder (specifically pertaining to those who completed a drug rehabilitation program).³⁰

Interviewing Candidates

It is essential to work closely with your human resources department to develop a set of interview questions appropriate for a peer support worker position that also considers applicable laws, regulations, and agency policies. Appendix E provides a set of interview questions that can be modified to fit your needs.

When possible, involve peer support workers in the hiring process. Peer support workers can offer a candidate a real-world perspective on what the job entails. They may also identify any red flags of a candidate, such as an inability to recognize his or her relapse triggers, not being mindful of interpersonal boundaries, not having dedicated time for self-care activities, and expecting significant financial gain from the job.

Orientation and Onboarding

Developing a thoughtful orientation process that effectively supports peers is essential to the long-term sustainability of the program. Activities to perform during orientation include:

- Review the job description for the peer support worker.
- Provide an overview of the law enforcement or justice system agency where the peer support worker will be working.
- Review the agency's organizational chart and discuss other team members' roles.
- Allow the peer support worker to shadow relevant staff or team members to better understand his or her role and how the agency or team functions.
- Conduct a tour of the agency and other essential locations in the community relevant to the peer support worker's role.
- · Review standard professional terms used within the public safety or justice agency.
- Discuss agency and team norms related to communication and documentation and provide a copy of the policy and procedures manual.
- Review applicable confidentiality regulations and policies.

• Discuss appropriate attire for each work setting (e.g., courtroom, office, and community) and how to address specific people, such as a police chief or a judge.

• Discuss protocols during court hearings or agency meetings, if applicable.

It is also important to remember the significant diversity that exists in terms of previous employment experience. If a peer support worker has not had previous experience in an office setting, additional training on operating the photocopier, telephone system, and other office equipment may be necessary.

The coordinator or supervisor should plan introductory activities if the peer support worker works with a team. The peer support worker should have the option to share with the staff what he or she would like about their personal experiences. It is essential to create opportunities for the peer support worker and the public safety or justice staff to converse about their previous experiences, perspectives, and goals. These interactions build trust among colleagues.



I walked into a brand-new peer support program in the court, and it was hard. I felt very unheard. I felt I was not a part of the team. I felt very powerless. Which are all things that I felt in my addiction, so that was very triggering. The longer I've been embedded in the program, the better it has gotten. I now have an equal voice at the table. The judge looks at me and says, 'I haven't heard from you. What do you have to say?' or 'I value your opinion on this. Please share your experience about this.

Peer Support Worker

Philosophical Differences

A potential implementation challenge is a philosophical mismatch between recovery-oriented peer support services and the philosophy of a particular criminal justice system.³¹ Peer support services emphasize individual self-determination, hope, and connection, while criminal justice programs are often more structured and directive. In one study, qualitative interviews with justice stakeholders and peer support workers indicated that philosophical divides are common and sometimes impact program implementation.³² Supervisors should encourage ongoing, open dialogue about these differences and ensure that the principles of peer support services are honored whenever possible.

Confidentiality, Privacy, and Disclosures

Peer support workers should be trained on the applicable privacy regulations for their role³³ and agency policies around mandated reporting of alleged abuse and/or imminent risks to the safety of the client or others. Moreover, justice and public safety agencies should work with peer support workers to clearly understand what information needs to be shared with staff within the justice or public safety system. Agencies should establish a protocol for informed consent to share appropriate information with other team members.³⁴ Appendix F provides a sample release of information form.

Probation Opioid Response Initiative

Erie County Probation | Erie County, New York

The Erie County Probation Opioid Response Initiative serves probationers identified as high risk for overdose. These probationers are assigned to a specialized opioid caseload consisting of a probation officer and two peer navigators who work alongside the opioid probation officer to provide outreach, assist with stabilization and linkage to supportive care, and provide follow-up monitoring. The program maintains small peer caseloads of approximately 30 individuals. The Opioid Response Initiative is a collaborative effort between Erie County Probation, the Erie County Health Department, the Erie County Department of Mental Health, Crisis Services of Erie County, and the Erie County Opiate Task Force.

The two peer navigators assigned to the program work directly for the county probation department. Upon hiring, the agency provided training and information to the peers on motivational interviewing and interactive journaling, which the peers would be doing with participants. Probation department policies limit some outreach activities that peers might typically perform if they worked in a different setting. For example, if the health department employed the peers, they would be allowed to use their vehicles to transport clients to support services. However, the peers are not able to provide transportation as employees of the probation agency. Peers are also not allowed to perform home visits without a probation officer, making scheduling home visits difficult since they have to coordinate visits with the probation officer's schedule. The peers meet clients in the community in public locations but are not allowed to visit clients in their homes without a probation officer present. Coordinating visits with the probation officer's schedule can be challenging.

Reflecting on the program's first year, staff felt that they would benefit from adding another probation officer to the specialized opioid caseload and adding a case manager who would provide additional support for linking probationers to treatment providers. Agency staff also felt that the peers would have more flexibility to work with clients if the agency contracted with a separate peer recovery organization to employ the peer rather than have the peers function as employees of the probation agency.

Supervision of Peer Support Workers

A robust system of supervisory support allows peer support workers to flourish not only in their daily work but in their professional development. Supervision for peer support workers is comprised of three primary functions: administrative, educational, and supportive. Administrative supervision is similar to the oversight that all employees receive. It is not uncommon for a staff member in the justice or public safety agency to serve as the administrative supervisor of a peer support worker. Formative or educational supervision focuses on the professional development of the peer support worker through training, modeling, and structured learning experiences. Supportive supervision focuses on the peer support worker's morale and job satisfaction. Educational and supportive supervision is often best provided by an agency with expertise in supervising peer support workers.

Table 5 provides examples of key activities that fall under each supervision type.

Table 5: Types of Supervision and Key Activities

Administrative	Formative/Educational	Supportive
 Orient new staff Plan, assign, and delegate work Assist with time management Explain policies Discuss the appropriate level of collaboration with the team Review documentation and data as required by the agency or funder 	 Provide time and space to reflect on peer practice Focus on knowledge, skills, and attitudes Provide individualized training and support Provide a venue for supporting the peer worker's professional development 	 Give feedback on work Discuss personal reactions to the work Validate and provide encouragement Promote self-care practices Advocate for peer support roles

Adapted from the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration <u>Supervision of Peer Workers</u>

Ideally, peer support workers receive supportive supervision from people who have lived experience with recovery and experience providing peer support services. However, with the rapid growth of peer support, the number of peer support supervisors is limited. *The National Practice Guidelines for Supervisors of Peer Support Workers*, drafted by the National Association of Peer Supporters, is designed to educate supervisors about the core peer support values applied in supervisory relationships. The guidelines can be used as a self-assessment to improve the supervision experience or educate management and executive leadership about peer support and advocate for increased promotion of these values in practice.

PEER SUPERVISOR SKILLS AND CAPACITIES

- Fully understand, embrace, celebrate, and promote the unique role of peer support services.
- Ensure that all agency staff understand the role of the peer support worker.
- Hold peer support workers accountable to recovery values.
- Be able to support peer support workers in navigating self-disclosure, boundaries, and ethical dilemmas.
- Collaboratively identify strengths, accomplishments, areas for growth, training needs, and professional goals, and seek out opportunities to refine skills and abilities.
- Provide constructive feedback regularly, rather than waiting for an annual review.
- Focus on developing relevant skills to meet daily demands and to prioritize the needs, satisfaction, and preferences of the people served.
- Support peer support staff in developing the skills needed to understand and complete relevant documentation.
- Prioritize workplace wellness and self-care.
- Model mutual respect, consideration, and cooperation.

Adapted from Tucker, S., Tiegreen, W., Toole, J., Banathy, J., Mulloy, D., & Swarbrick, M. Supervisor Guide: Peer Support Whole Health and Wellness Coach

Staff and supervisors should be sensitive to the situations that peer support workers may encounter through their jobs, including:

- Encountering people from their past. Peers working in the criminal justice system may increase the likelihood of having contact with these known individuals.
- Interacting with, and possibly working alongside, officers who previously arrested them, judges
 who may have sentenced them to jail, jailers who may have interacted with them, probation
 officers who may have supervised them, and treatment providers who may have provided
 services to them.
- Experiencing feelings that trigger negative memories. Previously incarcerated peer support
 workers may, for example, react to the sights and sounds of the jail, such as hearing the
 doors lock.
- Experiencing stigma or criticism from friends and family for working within the criminal justice system.

Weekly or biweekly supervision and connections to a network of peer support staff within the community can provide an essential source of support for peers as they process these experiences and continue their work. Peer support workers who are less engaged with individual clients may not need supportive supervision as frequently.



Programs don't change people. The staff you hire helps change people.

Peer Recovery Specialist

The Franklin County Pathways to Healthy Living Program

Office of Justice Policy and Programs and the Franklin County Correctional Center Franklin County, Ohio

The Franklin County Pathways to Healthy Living Program began in 2016 to reduce the recidivism rates of women with behavioral health needs incarcerated in the Franklin County Correctional Center. The program has since expanded to serve both men and women. The Pathways program is an eightweek, pre-release program that provides cognitive-behavioral programming and therapies, transition planning, linkage and referrals, prosocial activities, and medication-assisted treatment. The program also provides peer support through a Rapid Resource Center located in the lobby of the correctional center. The Rapid Resource Center helps newly released inmates transition back into the community. Services include referrals and linkage to health, mental health, addiction treatment, assistance applying for benefits, obtaining a birth certificate, connecting to emergency food or shelter, and help with drivers' license reinstatement and job readiness training. This continuity of support upon release ensures individuals remain connected to services and resources in the community.

The program employs six full-time peer recovery specialists who are certified by the state. As part of orientation, newly hired peers attend the eight-week program alongside the clients. The Pathways program was one of the state's first justice agencies to utilize peers. The Franklin County Correctional Center partnered with a community-based treatment agency to hire and supervise the peer support staff. This partnership is essential because it allows the peers to provide transportation upon reentry. If the jail employed the peer support staff, it would not offer client transportation since the prosecutor's office was uncomfortable with the liability.

To ensure program sustainability and build support for the program, Pathways staff collected data to demonstrate the program's impact. The data showed that the Pathways program decreased recidivism rates among those participating in the program and reduced use of force incidents. Although a causal relationship between peer support and reduced use of force incidents is difficult to establish, program staff reported a culture shift within the jail due to the program, which may be a contributing factor. Lastly the correctional staff attends graduation ceremonies to celebrate participants who complete the Pathways program and have the opportunity to observe group sessions, so they are familiar with the program.

CHAPTER 4:

Implementation

Issues

KEY QUESTIONS

- How are codes of ethics developed for peer support workers?
- What is compassion fatigue and burnout, and how should peer support workers practice self-care?
- How should program staff address safety concerns that may arise in communitybased work?

Ethics in Peer Support

Ethics are standards of behavior that an organization has identified to promote quality services and protect all involved parties. The peer support worker's role has similarities to other professional roles, but it also has many differences, especially concerning how a peer support worker interacts with clients. These differences make codes of ethics written for other professions inappropriate for guiding the work of peer support workers. Several states have established a written code of ethics for peer support staff, which provides a practical framework for peer support staff concerning their clients. Below is a sample code of ethics adapted from the Vermont Recovery Network.

SAMPLE CODE OF ETHICS

Adapted from the Vermont Recovery Network Ethical Decision Making

- 1. My primary obligation and responsibility is my recovery. I will contact my supervisor if alcohol, drug use, or anything else gets in the way of my recovery.
- 2. Recovery is guided by self-determination. I assist others in achieving their needs and goals.
- 3. I advocate for the integration of peers into self-selected recovery communities and will promote the individual's inherent value to those communities.
- 4. I act in accordance with the law.
- 5. I affirm the dignity of each person that I serve.
- 6. I provide recovery services regardless of someone's age, gender, race, ethnicity, national origin, sexual orientation, religion, marital status, political belief, language, socioeconomic status, or mental or physical condition.
- 7. I never use physical force, verbal abuse, emotional abuse, intimidate, threaten, harass, or make unwarranted promises of benefits.

SAMPLE CODE OF ETHICS continued

- 8. I share my lived experiences to help others identify resources and supports that promote recovery.
- 9. I respect the privacy of those I serve, and I will abide by confidentiality guidelines as required by law.
- 10. I never engage in sexual or intimate relations with peers that I serve.
- 11. I do not accept gifts of significant value from people that I serve. I do not lend to, or borrow from, the peers that I serve.
- 12. I improve my recovery service knowledge and skills through ongoing education, training, and supervision.

Appendix G provides a personal checklist to which peer support workers can refer as an ethics guide. A supervisor can also use this checklist as part of supervisory meetings.

Boundaries

Boundaries are important because they define what is appropriate within a "helping" relationship. An agency's peer support policy should define expectations around peer-client interactions. During the initial meeting with a new client, the peer support worker should discuss the nature of the peer-client relationship and set appropriate expectations. Training for peer support staff should include discussions on recognizing when the peer support worker is becoming too involved or when the client seeking help is becoming too dependent on the peer support worker.

Compassion Fatigue

Compassion fatigue refers to the exhaustion that can affect all helping professionals, including peer support workers, when exposed to others who are suffering.³⁵ Compassion fatigue results from the physical, emotional, and spiritual exhaustion associated with providing care to another. <u>Appendix H</u> provides a link to a tool that can help peer support workers assess and monitor their current level of compassion fatigue. The signs of compassion fatigue include:³⁶

- Anger
- Need to place blame
- Chronic lateness
- Depression
- Feeling of failure
- Frequent headaches

- Exhaustion (physical or emotional)
- Gastrointestinal pain
- High self-expectations
- Hopelessness
- Increased irritability

- Inability to feel joy
- Low self-esteem
- Lack of sleep
- Workaholism

Self-care is critical to addressing compassion fatigue. Experts recommend focusing on adequate sleep, good nutrition, regular physical activity, and active relaxation as a form of self-care.³⁷ Other strategies include:

- Washing up after a work shift as a symbolic "washing away" of the day's experiences.
- Communicating with friends and family.
- Creating ceremonies or rituals that focus on letting go of stress or honoring the memory of something positive.

- Celebrating successes and mourning sorrows with coworkers.
- Practicing spiritual beliefs or reaching out to a faith leader for support.
- Establishing connections to colleagues.
- Taking time away from work to experience other things.

Mentoring and Peer Support (MAPS) Program

San Francisco Department of Public Health | San Francisco, California

The San Francisco Mentoring and Peer Support (MAPS) program serves individuals incarcerated at the local jail or enrolled in a local treatment court. MAPS mentors provide linkages to community resources, accompany participants to appointments, support case managers, facilitate groups, and support prosocial recovery-oriented activities (e.g., AA meetings, sober outings, and healthy living).

The Richmond Area Multi-Services (RAMS) program provides MAPS mentors with peer training. Peers who work as MAPS mentors must have been involved in the criminal justice system, been dually diagnosed, and be stable in their recovery. Peer mentors are assigned based on their experience. For example, peers with prior military experience may work with veterans' treatment court participants. Peer mentors work closely with probation employees, program case managers, and jail staff and receive ongoing supervision and support. Peers are also encouraged to receive additional training such as Wellness Recovery Action Plan (WRAP) facilitation, a wellness tool used to get well, stay well, and make life more healthy and positive. The MAPS program currently employs four full-time peer mentors and one MAPS program supervisor. Although the number of participants has increased, the program has had to reduce the number of peer recovery specialists employed due to increases in minimum wage standards across the state.

Peer supervisors regularly discuss the potential for staff burnout and the need for self-care. Existing training addresses recognizing when a coworker is struggling with his or her mental health or substance use, self-care, and processing crises while remaining supportive of others. This training helps peer support workers develop strategies for managing the situations they may encounter.



It was hard for me to come into the jail as a peer because I have spent a lot of time in the jail because of my past drug use. A lot of deputies and police officers know me well from out in the streets. For the most part, I have gotten a lot of respect. When they saw what I was doing, they really praised me and said, keep up the good work.

There is another part of me as an African American woman that has seen police brutality and stuff like that. I have sons, and so that part can be traumatizing. I came up in here with a lot of trauma trying to fit in and still be respected because I am somebody. That's why I love the crisis intervention training, because I go back and talk to them with a picture of me when I was last in jail and a picture of me on the street. Looks can be deceiving, and you cannot judge a book by its cover. Anybody can change.

MAPS Mentor

Burnout

If compassion fatigue is not recognized and addressed, it can lead to burnout. Burnout is the gradual decrease in work engagement because of chronic exposure to stressful situations.³⁸ The effects of burnout are visible through emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and reduced personal accomplishment.³⁹ Exhaustion can also be accompanied by cynicism and inefficacy. Exhaustion is the feeling of not being able to offer any more of oneself at an emotional level, cynicism is a distant attitude towards work and colleagues, and inefficacy is the feeling of not performing tasks adequately and being incompetent at work.⁴⁰ Although research outcomes for peer support workers have been largely positive, some findings have noted that peer support workers may experience stress and burnout.⁴¹ Unrealistic expectations, along with a lack of workplace support, are critical factors associated with burnout.^{42, 43} Aside from organizational pressures, the study suggests that peer workers may be at risk of overworking themselves to prove their worth due to the lack of acceptance of the peer support profession—a relatively new discipline.⁴⁴ Dissatisfaction with salary and promotional opportunities also play a role in burnout,⁴⁵ which may be more common among peer support staff, as they do not have the same access to advancement as other professions.⁴⁶

Supervisors should actively encourage self-care, including assisting supervisees in forming a wellness or self-care plan and conducting assessments.⁴⁷ Peer-to-peer support is also effective in reducing compassion fatigue.⁴⁸ Peer support workers have successfully leveraged this support through workshops facilitated by fellow peer staff⁴⁹ or informal networks.⁵⁰



We all think we are so strong and forget that we're very sensitive people. It is not the easiest field when you are coming in and compassionately trying to help. It can really wear on you. I think it is important to bring these things up because these are the kinds of conversations that I think get lost in a lot of what you read and see about this kind of effort. It sounds so easy. We will just bring in some people with lived experience, throw them in the system, and they will encourage and support everybody. Regardless of whether you are in recovery or not, there are pressures you cannot really control. In weekly supervision, we create a safe space, you know, so that you can share those things. And nobody feels like they have to put up a front for anything.

Program Director

Peer Drift

Much of the power of peer support services lies in the ability of peer staff to use their lived experience to connect with clients by inspiring hope and supporting them in building their ideal life, despite any limitations imposed by their conditions. At times, however, as an integral part of the organization, and by working so closely with professional staff, peers can inadvertently begin to model and reflect their work counterparts, essentially functioning as junior clinicians or case managers. This shift in approach is often referred to as "peer drift," making peers less relatable to the individuals they desire to support. "Peer drift" can also be unintentionally encouraged by leadership, who may insist that the duties of peer staff should more closely resemble that of clinical staff. Supervisors can also unconsciously promote peer drift by applying the same policies, like staff scheduling, for clinical staff and others.

McLean County Recovery Court Program

McLean County Probation Department | McLean, Illinois

The McLean County Recovery Court Program serves individuals who have been convicted of a nonviolent offense and are diagnosed with a serious mental illness or co-occurring disorder. The recovery court has provided peer support services since 2012. The peer recovery specialists assist clients with tracking their appointments, identifying and overcoming barriers to treatment, providing transportation to meetings, and offering support and encouragement.

Chestnut Health Services, a local treatment provider, recruits, interviews, hires, and supervises the peer recovery specialists assigned to the recovery court. It also provides each peer with a cell phone and a company vehicle. Chestnut Health Services provides an eight-week training program for newly-hired recovery support specialists, covering a variety of topics, including, "What do you do if you see your client at a support meeting you are attending for yourself? What if the client shares information about which you were unaware during your work with them?" Issues related to the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, 42 C.F.R. Part 2, ethics, relapse, and roles and responsibilities are all topics covered in the eight-week training. Information on best practice sanctions and incentives provided by the National Center on State Courts and the National Association of Drug Court Professionals are discussed during monthly meetings of the court working group to ensure peer specialists understand the rationale behind administering sanctions and incentives.

Peer recovery specialists also receive certification through the state.

Peer recovery specialists attend recovery court staffing meetings weekly alongside the judge, and representatives from the public defender, state's attorney, probation, jail, treatment, and law enforcement entities. As part of the recovery court team, the peer recovery specialists provide input on each case and offer their perspectives and recommendations on the client and his or her progress in the program.

Safety Considerations for Community-Based Work

Most peer support workers working with law enforcement, probation, or treatment courts provide services in the community and clients' homes. Agencies should also provide training that addresses various safety considerations outlined below.⁵¹

Environmental Factors

- Are there conditions in the client's home, such as smoking or lack of air conditioning, that could be risky for a peer's health condition, such as asthma?
- How many people reside in the home? Will there be other people in the house during the session?
- Does the client, or anyone else residing in the home, have a history of violence?
- Does anyone residing in the home have an active warrant for an arrest?

Animals

- Is there an aggressive animal in the home?
- Is the client agreeable to putting the animal away during the home visit?
- Is the peer support worker allergic to any animals that may be in the home?

Biological Hazards

· Does the peer understand the risk of biological hazards and the precautions to reduce exposure risk? Is the peer comfortable wearing a mask or taking other universal precautions, as appropriate?

Appendix I provides safety tips for peer support workers working in the community and clients' homes.

Measuring Impact

It is essential to collect and analyze outcome data regularly to ensure that peer services are helpful to clients and produce the desired results. The OMNI Institute, a non-profit social science consultancy, conducted an extensive review of the literature on measuring outcomes of peer recovery support.⁵² The authors recommend measuring outcomes related to two domains of peer support services: personal and community skill-building (see Table 6).53

Table 6: Measuring the Impact of Peer Support Services

Community Skill-building Personal Skill-building · Reestablishment of healthy coping mechanisms Engagement in services after relapse has occurred Establishing and maintaining positive, Increase in an individual's capacity to manage supportive relationships with family, friends, their disorder social peers, or coworkers Increase in motivation to pursue recovery Perceived connectedness with community supports Increase in hope and endorsement of the belief **Employment** that recovery is possible · Increase in awareness of one's feelings, behaviors, and thoughts related to experiencing a substance use or mental health disorder

Outcomes can be measured using the following three instruments: the Recovery Process Inventory (RPI), the Recovery Assessment Scale (RAS), and the Brief Assessment of Recovery Capital (BARC-10). These instruments can be used in informal, community-based settings and used both as a service provision and measurement tool.⁵⁴ A copy of the instruments can be found in Appendix J.

Sevier County Offender Recovery Program (SCORP)

Sevier County Office of Alcohol and Drug Programs | Sevier County, Tennessee

The Sevier County Offender Recovery Program (SCORP) is a comprehensive, collaborative effort between the Sevier County Probation Department, the Sevier County Office of Alcohol and Drug Programs, the general sessions court, and community treatment providers. The goal of SCORP is to connect individuals with an opioid use disorder or a stimulant use disorder to evidence-based treatment, including peer support services, medication-assisted treatment and/or intensive outpatient program services, and recovery support services. The Sevier County Office of Alcohol and Drug Programs employs the peer recovery specialist assigned to SCORP.

Individuals may be assessed for the SCORP program while they are incarcerated or when they are sentenced to probation. Individuals on probation are assigned to a specialized caseload where they receive an alcohol/drug assessment through a local treatment provider. Recommendations may include intensive outpatient services, life skills classes, peer recovery support, and naloxone training. One peer recovery specialist works with the program and connects individuals on probation with treatment and recovery resources (e.g., overdose packets, food banks, and housing opportunities) and provides other support services.

Initially, the treatment professionals in the program did not consider the peer recovery specialist to be a "legitimate resource" for program participants. The program director educated the team members on how peer support services complement community-based treatment.

APPENDIX A:

Peer Support Job Titles

Adapted from Hendry, P., Hill, T., Rosenthal, H. Peer Services Toolkit: A Guide to Advancing and Implementing Peer Run Behavioral Health Services

Certified Peer Specialists: Certified peer specialists are peers who have sufficiently progressed with their recovery and are ready to assist others. They have completed training and have met the certification standards of their states to offer peer support services.

Recovery Coaches or Mentors: Recovery coaches or mentors are personal guides and role models for individuals seeking to achieve or sustain long-term recovery from addiction, regardless of their pathways to recovery. Recovery coaches and mentors connect individuals to recovery support services, like housing, employment, and other professional and nonprofessional services. They also connect individuals to formal and informal community supports, resources, and recovery support activities.

Peer Bridgers: Peer bridgers provide support as individuals transition from various institutional settings (e.g., psychiatric hospitals, detox centers, correctional settings) to the community.

Peer Crisis Support Workers: Peer crisis support workers provide timely support to people experiencing a behavioral health crisis. They can provide help through phone-based peer support lines, peer crisis respite centers (residential alternatives to emergency rooms), and as home peer companions. This peer support aims to work with a person to examine their experience with crisis and help them decide what might be helpful in the midst of an emergency.

Peer Advocates: Trained peer advocates support consumer self-determination in shared decisionmaking processes with providers and assist individuals in accessing services and enforcing their human, civil, and legal rights in the mental health system.

Forensic Peer Specialists: Forensic peer specialists work with clients in correctional settings.

Certified Family Support Specialists: Certified family support specialists are family peer supporters who help build resiliency in caregivers and youth.

Veteran Peer Specialists and Peer Support Technicians: These technicians are veterans who support other veterans who have psychiatric disorders or substance use disorders to engage in their treatment successfully.

APPENDIX B:

Organizational Readiness Checklist

Adapted from Phillips, K., Harrison, J, & Jabalee, C. Supervising Peer Workers: A Toolkit for Implementing and Supporting Successful Peer Staff Roles in Mainstream Mental Health and Substance Use/Addiction Organizations

Senior Leadership / Board of Directors

- The organization can articulate why it is hiring a peer support worker and what outcomes they anticipate.
- The organization has conducted a readiness audit identifying and addressing all areas where barriers to the success of the peer role may be present.

This may include:

- Ensuring the privacy of the peer support worker's previous experience as a client of the organization
- · Providing appropriate access to client records, agency resources, and training
- Addressing how peer workers as non-regulated staff will be held accountable to best practices of peer support
- The relevance and benefits/challenges of the peer role being part of a staff bargaining unit
- Senior leadership has been trained on the value, outcomes, and core practices of peer support services.
- Senior leadership supports the implementation of peer support services.
- The organization is grounded in recovery values and principles, reflected in the staff's use of recovery-based language and procedures.
- The organization has scanned its policies and procedures to ensure no unnecessary barriers for peer staff.

Human Resources

- There is a clear and defined job description for the peer support worker. The job description lists
 specific activities they will be providing and the amount of time they are expected to spend on
 the different functions of their role.
- The salary range for the peer support worker is competitive with other roles that perform similar duties and have similar responsibilities. At a minimum, peer support workers are paid a living wage.

- The organization is clear on what qualifications they are looking for in a peer support worker (e.g., previous work experience, education, and training in peer support).
- The hiring committee knows to ask the potential candidate about 1) their understanding of and training in peer support and 2) how they will use a peer support approach (including intentional use of lived experience and sharing wellness strategies) in specific scenarios they are likely to encounter in the role.
- The agency has a decision-making framework for when potential employees have past convictions or criminal justice involvement. Past convictions related to mental health/substance use issues do not automatically preclude a peer from being hired. The timeframe, nature of the charge, and risk of further criminal behavior are taken into account.
- When checking references, the employer is careful not to disclose that the peer position requires lived experience of a mental health/substance use issue.
- The hiring committee should include a service recipient or someone knowledgeable about peer support practices.

The Supervisor

- A clear supervision structure has been created. If multiple supervisors are being used, the role of each supervisor is identified.
- The peer support worker's supervisor(s) is a champion for peer roles.
- The supervisor has been trained in the history and values, and philosophy of peer support and peer support practices.

The Team

- Communication regarding the addition of a peer support worker to the team is consistent. A brochure explaining the peer role to staff and participants is recommended.
- Staff have received training on the value of peer support and know what specific tasks the peer worker will be doing.

Supporting the Peer Worker

- The peer support worker has been trained in peer support practices.
- If on-the-job training will occur, a plan has been created to achieve this.
- The peer support worker will regularly have access to other peer support workers within the agency or community.
- · Ongoing training is built into the role.
- The peer support worker can access the support of a peer community at least once a month but may need to access it up to once a week.
- The organization has established partnerships with peer-led services that provide training, support, and peer-specific supervision and mentoring to the peer support worker.

APPENDIX C:

Peer Support Roles and Responsibilities

Adapted from Phillips, K., Harrison, J. & Jabalee, C. <u>Supervising Peer Workers: A Toolkit for Implementing and Supporting Successful Peer Staff Roles in Mainstream Mental Health and Substance Use/Addiction Organizations</u>

Instructions:

Below is a list of activities peer support workers could undertake when working within justice agencies. Agency leaders should work with the appropriate stakeholders to assess each activity, considering three key questions:

- Should this activity be a part of the peer support worker's role?
- Does this activity conflict with peer support values, principles, and/or ethics?
- Is another staff member in our agency or within our team better suited to perform this task?

This worksheet can facilitate a discussion with newly hired peer support workers to clarify roles and responsibilities.

Participant Engagement			
Activity with Client/Participant	Should it be part of the peer's role? Y/N	Conflicts with peer support values, principles, or ethics? Y/N	Is another staff member better suited to this task? Y/N
Talking one-on-one about dealing with stigma			
Leading a peer support group			
Conducting a therapy session			
Leading a recreation group			
Going for coffee/lunch			
Socializing			
Discussing and sharing coping strategies			
Discussing harm reduction techniques			
Sharing their recovery story with other staff on the team or within the justice agency			
Discussing how to speak up and/or express their needs and wants during a doctor's appointment			
Discussing spirituality and/or religion			
Discussing sexuality			
Discussing experiences of trauma and abuse			
Suggesting a different diagnosis or medication			

Partici	pant Engagen	nent	
Activity with Client/Participant	Should it be part of the peer's role? Y/N	Conflicts with peer support values, principles, or ethics? Y/N	Is another staff member better suited to this task? Y/N
Discussing personal experiences of diagnosis			
Discussing family relationships			
Talking about personal hygiene			
Encouraging them to adhere to treatment			
Encouraging them to reduce their substance use			

Participant Services			
Activity with Client/Participant	Should it be part of the peer's role? Y/N	Conflicts with peer support values, principles, or ethics? Y/N	Is another staff member better suited to this task? Y/N
Helping with paperwork			
Completing paperwork for them			
Attending a doctor's appointment			
Assessing their suicide risk			
Documenting interactions			
Taking them to the food bank			
Helping find housing/look at housing			
Assisting with an employment search			
Driving to appointments			
Dropping off medications to them			
Shopping for the,			
Shopping with them			
Assisting in finding information on medication or diagnosis or treatment options			
Attending court with them			
Phoning other service providers for them			
Phoning other service providers with them			
Visiting them in their home			
Visiting them in jail			
Buying drugs or alcohol for them as a means of harm reduction			
Having a cigarette			
Consuming an alcoholic beverage			
Checking on their symptoms when asked by the team to look for certain things			
Helping deescalate from an anxiety episode/ panic attack			
Accompanying them to take a drug test			
Administering a drug test			

Participant Services			
Activity with Client/Participant	Should it be part of the peer's role? Y/N	Conflicts with peer support values, principles, or ethics? Y/N	Is another staff member better suited to this task? Y/N
Providing mediation between them and their family			
Providing information to their family members			
Informing other program staff if they relapses			

Agency Responsibilities			
Activity	Should it be part of the peer's role? Y/N	Conflicts with peer support values, principles, or ethics? Y/N	Is another staff member better suited to this task? Y/N
Serving on workplace committees			
Attending agency staff meetings			
Training staff on recovery philosophy			
Learning the same agency policies and procedures as other staff members			
Accessing a client/participant's files			
Answering phones in the office			
Sending appointment reminders to program participants			

APPENDIX D:

Sample Peer Support Specialist Job Descriptions

Job Title:

Peer Support Specialist and Outreach Worker (Law Enforcement)

Job Description:

The Peer Support and Outreach Worker serves as a vital law enforcement team member. The Peer Support and Outreach Worker ensures that individuals seeking support can find a path to recovery from a substance use disorder and/or mental illness by connecting them to community-based treatment providers and services. The majority of contacts take place face-to-face in the community. Peer support workers must be comfortable working in partnership with law enforcement officers. Individuals impacted by substance use and/or mental health disorders in active recovery are encouraged to apply.

Duties:

The Peer Support and Outreach Worker will work with law enforcement partners to help individuals with a substance use disorder access treatment and/or other recovery supports. Specific duties include:

- Co-respond to calls, follow up on reports relating to substance use disorders, and accompany police officers during home outreach visits following nonfatal overdoses
- Conduct proactive outreach to identify people in the community who need recovery support services
- Provide centralized intake, screening, referrals to treatment, and other crisis intervention services to individuals with substance use disorders and their loved ones
- · Provide case management and coaching to individuals who request peer support services
- Build relationships with hospitals, treatment centers, and other community stakeholders and agencies
- Attend roll call and provide training as needed or requested
- Document work thoroughly and promptly, including all client interactions, and prepare regular reports

- Adhere to all policies and procedures, including confidentiality, professional ethics, training requirements, and electronic health records documentation
- Assist with tracking the progress of clients and document and report progress
- Participate in regular supervision

Qualifications:

- · Excellent interpersonal and communications skills, both written and verbal
- Experience building relationships with multiple constituencies
- Ability to provide crisis intervention services in a calm and professional manner
- Self-motivated and persistent
- · Ability to maintain records and prepare reports
- · Ability to develop courteous and cooperative relationships with service providers
- Sensitivity to, and tolerance for, varied lifestyles and life choices
- Must have good, creative problem-solving skills
- Ability to work collaboratively in a team and manage multiple priorities, utilizes time management skills, and exercises sound judgment
- Knowledge of formal and informal community agencies and resources
- Ability to travel to multiple offices and home locations with a personal vehicle (reliable transportation, valid driver's license, and automobile insurance is required)
- · Basic computer, internet, and information and communication technology skills are required
- Two years of work or volunteer experience in a recovery-oriented setting is preferred

Education:

- High School Diploma/GED
- Two years of work or volunteer experience in a recovery-oriented setting is preferred

Job Title:

Veteran Peer Support Worker (Court)

Job Description:

Veteran Peer Support Workers are veterans with lived experience in recovery from a mental health condition, substance use disorder, and/or military trauma who support other veterans in recovery. The Veteran Peer Support Worker functions as a court team member, assisting other professional and nonprofessional personnel. The Veteran Peer Support Worker models effective coping techniques and self-help strategies. The Veteran Peer Support Worker also helps veterans in the veterans' recovery court by promoting self-determination, personal responsibility, and the empowerment inherent in self-directed recovery.

Duties:

- Act as an advocate on behalf of the client
- Adhere to all policies and procedures, including confidentiality, professional ethics, training requirements, and electronic health records documentation
- Attend medical, behavioral health, or community appointments with clients, when appropriate, to improve adherence to treatment and advocate for getting the best possible care
- Assist case managers and the coordinator in helping clients to identify socioeconomic issues that affect their overall health and develop health/social management plans and goals
- Provide referrals and linkage to services (e.g., housing, employment, treatment, medical, dental, social services) and assist the individual in accessing/using those services
- Suggest approaches that encourage clients to participate in wellness and recovery activities at a pace that is comfortable for them
- Assist with tracking the progress of clients and document and report individual progress and treatment as assigned
- Participate in regular clinical supervision
- Provide emotional and social support, listening, sharing recovery experience, and teaching how each person can recover
- Serve as a role model for clients in recovery by following own values, demonstrating effective coping behaviors, life strategies, and use of resources available to achieve well-being
- Provide treatment education and adherence support to client and family members
- Encourage choice during development and implementation of care plans
- Handle crisis intervention for client and address other emergent situations in collaboration with a mental health professional, as needed
- Provide client with information on existing community supports and services
- · Share recovery tools and resources and describe their experience using them
- Work with clients to identify personal strengths and treatment services based on individual readiness, immediate need, and recommend treatment objectives for the client's treatment plan

- Observe behaviors that might indicate difficulty adapting or responding to treatment (e.g., missed appointments, failure to maintain abstinence, a risk to self or others, disruptive behavior), completes appropriate documentation, and reports concerns to the interprofessional team promptly
- · Provide help in developing recovery supportive friendships, kinship, and community networks
- Interact with community resources on the client's behalf as necessary to establish linkage with services
- Provide education on the benefit of peer recovery, participate in presentations and training, and co-facilitate peer recovery group sessions
- Maintain a working knowledge of current trends and development in holistic approaches to wellness and recovery by reading books, journals, and other relevant materials
- Serve as a liaison between the clinical team, the court, and the veteran, participating in weekly interprofessional team meetings
- Support the client's efforts to identify personally meaningful roles and activities in the communities of the veteran's choice
- Use ongoing individual and group meetings (and other means of communication) to coach
 veterans on how to identify and combat negative self-talk and overcome fears by providing a
 forum where veterans can share their experiences

Qualifications:

- Experience or detailed knowledge of the Veterans Services Administration
- Excellent interpersonal and communications skills, both written and verbal
- Experience building relationships with multiple constituencies
- · Ability to provide crisis intervention services in a calm and professional manner
- Self-motivated and persistent
- Ability to maintain records and prepare reports
- Ability to develop courteous and cooperative relationships with service providers
- Sensitivity to, and tolerance for, varied lifestyles and life choices
- Must have good, creative problem-solving skills
- Ability to work collaboratively in a team and manage multiple priorities, utilizes time management skills, and exercises sound judgment
- Knowledge of formal and informal community agencies and resources
- Ability to travel to multiple offices and home locations with a personal vehicle (reliable transportation, valid driver's license, and automobile insurance is required)
- · Basic computer, internet, and information and communication technology skills are required
- A veteran who has spent a minimum of two years in personal recovery from a mental health and/or substance use condition is preferred
- Two years of work or volunteer experience in a recovery-oriented setting is preferred

Education/Experience:

High School Diploma/GED

Job Title:

Peer Support Worker (Probation)

Job Description:

The peer support worker position provides outreach and support services to probationers with a mental health or substance use disorder. Peer support workers use their lived experience in recovery and history of criminal justice involvement to provide direct services and support to probationers. Peer support workers serve as role models for probationers in recovery by demonstrating effective coping behaviors, life strategies, and the use of resources available to them to achieve well-being. Peer support workers perform various duties, including working with the probation officer to identify at-risk probationers, develop and support treatment and recovery plans, participate in outreach activities, assist with stabilization and linkage to supportive care, and provide follow-up monitoring. Individuals impacted by substance use and/or mental health disorders in active recovery are encouraged to apply.

Duties:

- Serve as a role model for clients in recovery by following own values, demonstrating effective coping behaviors, life strategies, and use of resources available to achieve well-being
- Provide referrals and linkage to services (e.g., housing, employment, treatment, medical, dental, social services) and assist the individual in accessing/using those services
- Suggest approaches that encourage clients to participate in wellness and recovery activities at a pace that is comfortable for them
- Encourage choice during the development and implementation of care plans
- Share recovery tools and resources
- Work with clients to identify their strengths
- · Assist with developing a support network in the community
- Interact with community resources on the client's behalf, as necessary, to establish linkages with services
- Provide education on the benefit of peer support services, participate in presentations and training, and co-facilitate peer recovery group sessions
- Connect probationers to mental health and behavioral health services
- Adhere to all policies and procedures, including confidentiality, professional ethics, training requirements, and electronic health records documentation
- Assist with tracking the progress of clients and document and report progress
- Participate in regular supervision

Oualifications:

- Excellent interpersonal and communications skills, both written and verbal
- Experience building relationships with multiple constituencies
- Ability to provide crisis intervention services in a calm and professional manner
- Self-motivated and persistent

- Ability to maintain records and prepare reports
- Ability to develop courteous and cooperative relationships with service providers
- Sensitivity to, and tolerance for, varied lifestyles and life choices
- Must have good, creative problem-solving skills
- Ability to work collaboratively in a team and manage multiple priorities, utilizes time management skills, and exercises sound judgment
- Knowledge of formal and informal community agencies and resources
- Ability to travel to multiple offices and home locations with a personal vehicle (reliable transportation, valid driver's license, and automobile insurance is required)
- · Basic computer, internet, and information and communication technology skills are required
- Two years of work or volunteer experience in a recovery-oriented setting is preferred

Education:

High School Diploma/GED

Job Title:

Peer Support Worker (Jails)

Job Description:

The peer support worker position provides planning and support to jail residents with substance use and/or a mental health disorder who are leaving jail and require continued treatment and supportive services upon return to the community. Peer support workers serve as role models by demonstrating effective coping behaviors, beneficial life strategies, and appropriate use of resources available to achieve and sustain long-term recovery. Peer support workers provide strategies for individuals to live safely in the community and develop prosocial relationships and supportive and healthy community networks. Peer support services include providing linkage to treatment and resources in the community, recovery support, pre-crisis and crisis support, and transitional support for residents returning to the community. Individuals impacted by substance use and/or mental health disorders in active recovery are encouraged to apply.

Duties:

- Engage with residents during their incarceration and assist them with reentry planning before their release
- Provide referrals and linkage to services (e.g., housing, employment, treatment, medical, dental, social services) and assist the individual in accessing/using those services
- Suggest approaches that encourage clients to participate in wellness and recovery activities at a pace that is comfortable for them
- Serve as a role model for clients in recovery by following own values, demonstrating effective coping behaviors, life strategies, and use of resources available to achieve well-being
- Encourage choice during the development and implementation of care plans
- As necessary, handle crisis intervention for client and address other emergent situations in collaboration with the clinical staff, as appropriate
- Share recovery tools and resources
- · Work with residents to identify their strengths
- Assist with developing a support network in the community
- Interact with community resources on the client's behalf, as necessary, to establish linkages with services
- Provide education on the benefit of peer support services, participate in presentations and training, and co-facilitate peer recovery group sessions
- Connect residents leaving jail and returning to the community to mental health and behavioral health services
- Adhere to all policies and procedures, including confidentiality, professional ethics, training requirements, and electronic health records documentation
- Assist with tracking the progress of clients and document and report progress
- Participate in regular supervision

Qualifications:

- Excellent interpersonal and communications skills, both written and verbal
- Experience building relationships with multiple constituencies
- · Ability to provide crisis intervention services in a calm and professional manner
- Self-motivated and persistent
- Ability to maintain records and prepare reports
- · Ability to develop courteous and cooperative relationships with service providers
- Sensitivity to, and tolerance for, varied lifestyles and life choices
- Must have good, creative problem-solving skills
- Ability to work collaboratively in a team and manage multiple priorities, utilizes time management skills, and exercises sound judgment
- Knowledge of formal and informal community agencies and resources
- Ability to travel to multiple offices and home locations with a personal vehicle (reliable transportation, valid driver's license, and automobile insurance is required)
- · Basic computer, internet, and information and communication technology skills are required
- Two years of work or volunteer experience in a recovery-oriented setting is preferred

Education:

High School Diploma/GED

APPENDIX E:

Sample Peer Support Worker Interview Questions

Adapted from the Philadelphia Department of Behavioral Health and Intellectual Disabilities Services and Achara Consulting Inc. Peer Support Toolkit

The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) strictly prohibits questions about the nature and severity of an applicant's experiences with psychiatric diagnosis and/or treatment but allows questions about the ability of an applicant to meet the essential duties of the role. Below are some interview questions that focus on the crucial functions of peer support workers and adhere to the ADA requirements.

- Do you have any life experiences that would make you valuable to this program?
- What have you learned through your use of services that you think would be useful to your work here?
- What role, if any, has peer support had in your recovery?
- Please describe your views on an individual choosing their path to recovery and your role as their peer support provider.
- Self-disclosure is not only encouraged but expected of peer support workers. Please describe your comfort level and experience with self-disclosure.
- How would you use your personal lived experience to support clients/participants?
- How would you define the peer support worker role and describe the most important parts or tasks?
- Peer support staff are advocates for the people they serve. Please describe a situation where you advocated for the rights or the needs of another person.
- Suppose you are working with someone who is resigned to the idea that their life is limited because of a substance use disorder, psychiatric diagnosis, or another challenge. How would you support that person?
- In many ways, the peer position is a pioneering role. What skills will you bring to the job to allow you to advocate for people while being in partnership with other staff members?

- Peer support workers are often considered change agents within organizations. How will your experiences help you be a change agent, and how would you see this happening?
- Some staff here may be apprehensive about, or unsupportive of, peer support services. How would you deal with this?
- If you are called to help deescalate a problem, how would you respond?
- This position will require you to work in a public safety/justice setting, interacting with law enforcement, judges, probation staff, and jail staff. How will your personal lived experience support your work in these settings?
- While working here, you may be a part of some situations that disturb you or make you uncomfortable. How do you think you would handle these situations, both when they occur and after the problem has ended?
- If you felt your job was causing an increase in your stress level, what would you do?
- Can you tell me about your history of dependability in prior positions or, if no recent jobs, in other activities in your life?
- What do you know about the concept of recovery?
- What is your familiarity with community resources?
- Describe a situation where you were able to influence the actions of others.
- How do you develop trust and a relationship with the people you are supporting?
- What do you look for or encourage when helping someone create a recovery plan?
- What steps would you take if the person you were supporting was not making consistent contact?
- Peer support workers spend the majority of their time working with individuals in the community. How comfortable are you with doing community-based work, outreach, and support?
- Peer support workers may participate in presentations and training. Describe your experience in presenting to a large group of people.
- (If applicable) Many peer support workers will participate in or co-facilitate groups. Please describe your experience with facilitating group sessions.

APPENDIX F:

Signature of the Client/Participant

Sample Release of Information Form

		AL ALCOHOL OR DRUG IN[Insert Agency Na	
		[Insert Agency Name	
I,	authorize		[Insert agency
name] and			
disclose to one another, the follo	owing information:		
My name and other persor	nally identifying inform	ation	
My current and past status	s as a client/participant	at any of the agencies liste	ed above
The initial and subsequent	evaluations of my serv	rice needs	
My treatment and recovery	y plan		
• A summary of treatment p	orogress and complianc	ce	
• The appointments I have s	cheduled and my atter	ndance at these appointm	nents
My discharge plans			
My drug/alcohol testing re-	sults		
• Other			
The purpose of the disclosure information they need to coor services/payment to meet my n	dinate my treatment	needs and arrange/autho	_
I understand that my alcoho regulations governing Confide and the Health Insurance Porta cannot be disclosed without my understand that I may revoke thin reliance on it and that this co	ntiality of Alcohol and bility and Accountability written consent unless consent at any time	Drug Abuse Patient Reco ty Act of 1996 (HIPAA), 45C s otherwise provided for in except to the extent that a	ords, 42 C.F.R. Part 2 FR Pts 160 & 164, and the regulations. I also action has been taken

Date

APPENDIX G:

Self

Ethics in Peer Service Settings:

Personal Checklist

and constructive communication.

Adapted from Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration
Establishing Ethical Practices for Peer Recovery Support Services Within the ATR Model

	I am aware of my own needs, preferences, and boundaries and their impact on my role as a peer leader. I act responsibly and do not seek to fulfill them in inappropriate circumstances.
	. I am mindful of my responsibility to role-model recovery and leadership.
	I recognize my physical, emotional, psychological, and spiritual needs, limits, and boundaries
	I seek out appropriate support — mutual aid meetings, supervision, professional (when needed) — to process my feelings and concerns.
	I manage my time to honor my need for replenishment and renewal so that my needs do not interrupt or undermine my work as a peer support worker.
	. I actively pursue my development, enrichment, and growth as a person.
	I actively seek feedback from others and can receive and use constructive criticism from others.
Interpe	ersonal
	I act in ways that affirm the worth and dignity of individuals I contact as a peer support worker.
	I recognize that as a peer support worker in whom trust and power have been placed, I am acting in a relationship of faith. I refrain from practices that allow me to meet my own needs in ways that potentially take advantage of others.
	I honor my authority as a peer support worker by refusing to manipulate others or use information to satisfy my personal needs.
	I refrain from engaging in any exploitative relationship that abuses power and undermines the trust the organization or community has placed in me.
	I am eager to engage conflict in healthy ways, using open, direct, honest, compassionate,

	I understand my responsibility, as a peer support worker, to set clear and consistent boundaries with others, especially with peers who have not developed healthy boundary systems. I fully understand the need to set firm boundaries regarding sex and intimacy when working with peers.
	_ I have examined and communicated my commitment, motives, and intentions in my relationships with others. I am clear with others and myself about the various and sometimes conflicting roles that I carry out as a peer leader.
	In my helping role as a peer support worker, I do not do for others that which they can do for themselves.
Group	b/Organization
	_ I eagerly serve all members of the community, of whatever age, race/ethnicity/culture, gender/gender expression, sexual orientation, physical and mental ability, socioeconomic status, theology/faith expression, national origin, or primary language.
	_ I seek to understand the dynamics of oppression on personal and institutional levels and their impact on my leadership role.
	_ I understand that my values, beliefs, and behaviors are culturally informed. I am willing to understand and accept cultural values, beliefs, and behaviors that I do not share.
	_ I recognize that my peer leadership is by consent of the organization and that my actions and decisions as a peer support worker reflect the organization.
	_ I respect the diversity of spiritualities and paths to recovery in the community. I am careful that I do not make my personal form of expression or experience the norm.
	_ I use the resources and finances of the organization responsibly and prudently. My organization is funded with public money and is accountable for stewarding those funds to serve people in the recovery community.
	_ I prepare for my roles and responsibilities as a peer support worker, including seeking and pursuing training and education.
	_ I am careful not to criticize any other peer or organizational leaders in public.
	_ I am mindful that I respect and follow organizational protocols, including those requiring documentation and paperwork on my part.
	I am respectful that, as a peer support worker, I may have access to information that must be kept in confidence. I acknowledge the power this gives me and use discretion in sharing such information to avoid harming individuals, organizations, or communities. I understand that my peer leadership role requires careful discernment, and I need to seek help if I am concerned about the safety of an individual or the group/organization.
	_ I build positive, respectful relationships with my predecessors and successors to help build a legacy of strong, supportive peer leadership.
	_ I accept my responsibility as a representative of my organization and participate in actions that support its vision and mission.

APPENDIX H:

Measuring Compassion Fatique and Compassion Satisfaction

Professional Quality of Life Scale

The Professional Quality of Life (ProQOL) Scale is the most commonly used measure of the negative and positive effects of helping others who experience suffering and trauma. The ProQOL has subscales for compassion satisfaction, burnout, and compassion fatigue. The ProQOL 5 is the current version and can be accessed here.

To copy the ProQOL instrument, the author must receive credit. Only authorized changes can be made (see website), and the tool cannot be sold.

APPENDIX I:

Safety Tips

for Peer Support Workers in the Community and Home

Adapted from the New York State Office of Alcoholism and Substance Use Abuse Services' Peer Integration Toolkit

Personal safety information is imperative to provide preventive strategies to enable peers and other staff to be safe. The following are a few safety strategies for peer support workers who work in community or home-based settings:

- Before meeting with the participant, consult with your supervisor and/or staff with more
 experience with specialty areas (i.e., mental health/substance use) if you have safety concerns
 about a participant.
- Always travel with a charged cell phone, turned on, and preprogrammed to your employer, and call 911 for assistance in an emergency or threatening situation.
- Before you knock on the door of the person's residence, briefly ascertain if there are any
 disturbances such as screaming, yelling, or fighting. If you hear such troubles, leave and
 reschedule the appointment for another time and perhaps a different setting.
- · Before opening a gate, rattle it to determine if dogs are loose that might pose a threat.
- Do not enter the premises if a threatening animal is present.
- Upon arrival, ensure the individual and/or family members know who you are and why you are there. Confirm the name of the individual or family members to whom you are providing peerto-peer services if it is your first time meeting the person.
- · Ask if there are firearms in the house, and if so, request that they be securely locked up.
- Be sure to present your agency ID card/badge. Do not present your credentials to anyone else unless asked to do so.
- Do not attempt to meet with a client in a home setting if people in the home appear to be
 under the influence of alcohol or other drugs or if there are other people with whom you feel
 uncomfortable. However, if you accompany the peer to treatment or medical services and the
 peer is under the influence, this may not apply.
- · Do not share your home address.
- When making a first-time home visit to a client/participant's home, check in with your agency
 at predetermined times to let staff know that you are okay. For example, you may want to make
 contact at the end of a scheduled home visit.

- Trust your instincts. If something doesn't feel right and you are uneasy about your situation, leave and call your supervisor.
- If your safety is at risk, remove yourself immediately from the situation. Call your supervisor and document the incident. Discuss alternative ways to serve the peer with your supervisor. Your supervisor may alter the service plan so that you meet with the participant in a public place, community, or service center, or the provider program.

APPENDIX J:

Measuring the Impact of Peer Support Services

Brief Assessment of Recovery Capital

The Brief Assessment of Recovery Capital (BARC-10) assesses "recovery capital," or the personal, social, community, and cultural resources available to a person in recovery. Recovery capital is an essential component for substance use disorder recovery because it promotes resiliency, improves coping, and reduces stress.⁵⁵

The BARC-10 is accessible here.

Recovery Process Inventory

The Recovery Process Inventory (RPI) measures the individual's perceptions of recovery. Organizations must seek consent from the South Carolina Department of Mental Health to utilize the RPI.

The RPI is accessible here.

Recovery Assessment Scale

The purpose of the Recovery Assessment Scale (RAS) is to assess the recovery of people living with mental illness/mental health challenges and/or substance use disorders. It is intended to be delivered in person but can also be self-administered. The 24-item version of the RAS (the RAS-Revised) measures personal confidence and hope, willingness to ask for help, goal and success orientation, reliance on others, and not being dominated by symptoms.

The RAS revised (RAS-R) is accessible here.

The RAS-DS (Domains and Stages), which is suitable for adolescents, is accessible here.

References

- Acker, G. M. (2004). The effect of organizational conditions (role conflict, role ambiguity, opportunities for professional development, and social support) on job satisfaction and intention to leave among social workers in mental health care. Community Mental Health Journal. 40(1), 65-73.
- Adams, W. E., & Lincoln, A. K. (2021). Barriers to and facilitators of implementing peer support services for criminal justice-involved individuals. Psychiatric Services, 72(6), 626-632.
- Ahmed, A. O., Hunter, K. M., Mabe, A. P., Tucker, S. J., & Buckley, P. F. (2015). The professional experiences of peer support workers in the Georgia mental health consumer network. <u>Community Mental Health Journal</u>, 51, 424-436.
- Almeida, M., Day, A., Smith, B., Bianco, C., & Fortuna, K. (2020). Actionable items to address challenges incorporating peer support workers within an integrated mental health and substance use disorder system: co-designed qualitative study. Journal of Participatory Medicine, 12(4), e17053.
- American Probation and Parole Association. (2010) <u>Promising practices in providing pretrial</u> services functions within probation agencies: a user's guide.
- Andreas, D., Ja, D. Y., & Wilson, S. (2010). Peers reach out supporting peers to embrace recovery (PROSPER): a center for substance abuse treatment recovery community services program. <u>Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly</u>, 28(3), 326-338.
- Armitage, E. V., Lyons, H., & Moore, T. L. (2010). Recovery association project (RAP), Portland, Oregon. <u>Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly, 28, 339-357</u>.
- Barrenger, S. L., Hamovitch, E. K., & Rothman, M. R. (2019). Enacting lived experiences: peer specialists with criminal justice histories. <u>Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal</u>, 42(1), 9-16.
- Bellamy, C., Kimmel, J., Costa, M. N., Tasai, J., Nulton, L., Nulton, E., & O'Connell, M. (2019). Peer support on the "inside and outside": building lives and reducing recidivism for people with mental illness returning from jail.

 <u>Journal of Public Mental Health, 18(3), 188-198</u>.
- Boston University School of Social Work Center for Innovation in Social Work and Health (2009). <u>Building Blocks</u> to Peer Program Success: Toolkit for Developing HIV Peer Programs. Washington, DC: Health Resources and Services Administration.
- Bringing Recovery Supports to Scale Technical Assistance Center Strategy (BRSS TACS). (2020). State-by-state directory of peer recovery coaching training and certification programs.
- Burgess, P., Pirkis, J., Coombs, T., & Rosen, A. (2010). Review of recovery measures. <u>Australian Mental Health Outcomes and Classification Network</u>.
- Chinman, M., Hamilton, A., Butler, B., Knight, E., Murray, S., & Young, A. (2008). <u>Mental Health Consumer Providers:</u>
 <u>A Guide for Clinical Staff.</u> Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation.
- Corrigan, P. W., & Penn, D. L. (1999). Lessons from social psychology on discrediting psychiatric stigma. The American Psychologist, 54(9), 76-776.
- Crisanti, A. S., Murray-Krezan, C., Karlin, L. S., Sutherland-Bruaw, K., & Najavits, L. M. (2016). Evaluation of an evidence-based practice training for peer support workers in behavioral health care. <u>Cogent Psychology.</u> 3:1,1212453.
- Family Run Executive Director Leadership Association (FREDLA). (2018). <u>Ethics in parent peer support: balancing your lived experience and professional roles.</u>

- Figley, C. (1995). Compassion fatigue as secondary traumatic stress disorder: An overview in CR Figley. In Compassion Fatigue: Coping with Secondary Stress Disorder in Those Who Treat the Traumatised; Brunner/Mazel: Bristol, UK.
- Harrison, J. (2015). Peer Support Consultations: Summary. Kitchener, Ontario.
- Hodgson, E., Stuart, J. R., Train, C., Foster, M., & Lloyd, L. (2019). A qualitative study of an employment scheme for mentors with lived experience of offending within a multi-agency mental health project for excluded young people. The Journal of Behavioral Health Services and Research, 46, 140-150.
- Ibrahim, N., Thompson, D., Nixdorf, R., Kalha, J., Mpango, R., Moran, G., Mueller-Stierlin, A., Ryan, G., Mahlke, C., Shamba, D., Puschner, B., Repper, J., & Slade, M. (2020). A systematic review of influences on implementation of peer support work for adults with mental health problems. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 55(3), 285-293.
- lowa Board of Certification. (2020). Application handbook for certified peer support worker.
- Mack, B. (2020). The resiliency-focused supervision model: addressing stress, burnout, and self-care among social workers. <u>Advances in Social Work, 20(3), 596-614</u>.
- Marlow, E., Grajeda, W., Lee, Y., Young, E., Williams, M., & Hill, K. (2015). Peer mentoring for male parolees: a CBPR pilot study. Progress in Community Health Partnerships: Research, Education, and Action 9, (1), 91-100.
- Maslach, C., & Jackson, S. E. (1981). The measurement of experienced burnout. <u>Journal of Occupational Behavior</u>, 2, 99-113.
- McCartney, S., & Parent, R. (2015). Ethics in law enforcement. Victoria, B.C.: BC campus.
- Mead, S., Hilton, D., & Curtis, L. (2001). Peer support: a theoretical perspective. <u>Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal</u>. 25(2), 134–141.
- Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission. (2019). <u>Recovery support services for Medicaid beneficiaries</u> with a substance use disorder.
- Mental Health and Addiction Association of Oregon. (n.d.). Peer support for peer support workers.
- Michigan Department of Health and Human Services. (2014). <u>Michigan certified peer support workers code of ethics</u>.
- Min, S. Y., Whitecraft, J., Rothbard, A. B., & Salzer, M. S. (2007). Peer support for persons with co-occurring disorders and community tenure: a survival analysis. <u>Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal</u>, 30(3), 207–213.
- Missouri Credentialing Board. (n.d.). Certified peer support worker code of ethics.
- Miyamoto, Y., & Sono, T. (2012). Lessons from peer support among individuals with mental health difficulties: a review of the literature. <u>Clinical Practice and Epidemiology in Mental Health</u>, 8, 22-29.
- National Association of Drug Court Professionals. (2018). Adult drug court best practice standards, vol I and vol II.
- National Association of Drug Court Professionals. (2019). Family Treatment Court Best Practice Standards.
- National Council for Behavioral Health. (2020). <u>Peer support workers in emergency departments: engaging individuals surviving opioid overdoses qualitative assessment</u>. (citing to Ellen L. Bassuk et al. (2016). Peer-delivered recovery support services for addictions in the United States: a systematic review. <u>Journal Of Substance Abuse Treatment</u>, 63, 1-9.
- National Institute of Justice. (2019). <u>Adult drug court research to practice (r2p) initiative: translating drug court research into practice</u>.
- New York Peer Specialist Certification Board. (2018). NYPSCB code of ethical conduct and disciplinary procedures.
- New York State Office of Alcoholism and Substance Use Abuse Services' Peer Integration Toolkit.
- Nixon, S. (2020). 'Giving back and getting on with my life': peer mentoring, desistance and recovery of ex-offenders. <u>Probation Journal</u>, 67(1), 47-64.

- The OMNI Institute. (2020). Measuring outcomes of peer recovery support services: a literature review.
- Park, S. G., Chang, B. H., Mueller, L., Resnick, S. G., & Eisen, S. V. (2016). Predictors of employment burnout among VHA peer support workers. <u>Psychiatric Services</u>, 67(10), 1109-1115.
- Pfifferling, J., & Gilley, K. (2000). Overcoming compassion fatigue. Family Practice Management, 7(4), 39-44.
- Philadelphia Department of Behavioral Health and Intellectual Disabilities Services & Achara Consulting Inc. (2017). Peer support toolkit.
- Phillips, K., Harrison, J, & Jabalee, C. (2019). <u>Supervising Peer Workers: A Toolkit for Implementing and Supporting Successful Peer Staff Roles in Mainstream Mental Health and Substance Use/Addiction Organizations</u>. Kitchener, ON: Centre for Excellence in Peer Support, CMHA Waterloo Wellington.
- Pirelli, G., Formon, D. L., & Maloney, K. (2020). Preventing vicarious trauma (VT), compassion fatigue (CF), and burnout (BO) in forensic mental health: Forensic psychology as exemplar. Professional Psychology: Research and Practice, 51(5), 454-466.
- Portillo, S., Goldberg, V. & Taxman, F.S. (2017). Mental health peer navigators: working with criminal justice-involved populations. <u>Prison Journal</u>, 97(3), 318-341.
- Rainey, V. (2019). <u>Justice-involved peer support [Webinar]</u>. Mental Health America.
- Scott, C. K., Grella, C. E., Nicholson, L., & Dennis, M. L. (2018). Opioid recovery initiation: Pilot test of a peer outreach and modified Recovery Management Checkup intervention for out-of-treatment opioid users. <u>Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment</u>, 86, 30-35.
- Sells, D., Davidson, L., Jewell, C., Falzer, P., & Rowe, M. (2006). The treatment relationship in peer-based and regular case management for clients with severe mental illness. <u>Psychiatric Services</u>, <u>57(8)</u>, <u>1179-1184</u>.
- Smith, Dennis to State Medicaid Directors, August 15, 2007, Center for Medicaid and State Operations, <u>SMDL</u> #07-011.
- Solomon P. (2004). Peer support/peer provided services underlying processes, benefits, and critical ingredients. <u>Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal</u>, 27(4), 392-401.
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (n.d.). Federal laws and regulations.
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (2017). <u>Peer Support Roles in Criminal</u>
 Justice Settings.
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2019) <u>Screening and assessment of co-occurring</u> disorders in the justice system.
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2020). Who are peer workers?
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2020). <u>State-by-state directory of parent peer support training and certification programs</u>.
- Tracy, K., Burton, M., Nich, C., & Rounsaville, B. (2011). Utilizing peer mentorship to engage high recidivism substance-abusing patients in treatment. <u>The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse, 37(6), 525-531</u>.
- Tucker, S., Tiegreen, W., Toole, J., Banathy, J., Mulloy, D., & Swarbrick, M. (2013). <u>Supervisor guide: peer support whole health and wellness coach</u>. Decatur, GA: Georgia Mental Health Consumer Network.
- United States Government Accountability Office. (2018). <u>Leading practices for state programs to certify peer support workers</u>.
- University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus [University of Colorado]. (2015). <u>DIMENSIONS: Peer support program toolkit</u>.
- Utah Department of Human Services. (n.d.). <u>Utah peer support worker code of ethics</u>.
- Vermont Recovery Network. (n.d.) VRN ethical decision-making.

62

- Vilsaint, C. L., Kelly, J. F., Bergman, B. G., Groshkova, T., Best, D., & White, W. (2017). Development and validation of a brief assessment of recovery capital (BARC-10) for alcohol and drug use disorder. Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 177, 71-76.
- Wahl, C., Hultquist, T. B., Struwe, L., & Moore, J. (2018). Implementing a peer support network to promote compassion without fatigue. The Journal of Nursing Administration, 48(12), 615-621.
- White, W. (2007) Ethical guidelines for the delivery of peer-based recovery support services.
- White, W. (2009) Peer-based Addiction Recovery Support: History, Theory, Practice, and Scientific Evaluation. Chicago, IL: Great Lakes Addiction Technology Transfer Center and Philadelphia Department of Behavioral Health and Mental Retardation Services.

Endnotes

- 1 Solomon P. (2004). Peer support/peer provided services underlying processes, benefits, and critical ingredients. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, *27*(4), 392-401.
- White, W. (2009) <u>Peer-based Addiction Recovery Support: History, Theory, Practice, and Scientific Evaluation</u>. Chicago, IL: Great Lakes Addiction Technology Transfer Center and Philadelphia Department of Behavioral Health and Mental Retardation Services.
- 3 Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (2017). <u>Peer Support Roles in Criminal Justice Settings</u>.
- 4 Armitage, E. V., Lyons, H., & Moore, T. L. (2010). Recovery association project (RAP), Portland, Oregon. *Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly*, 28, 339-357.
- 5 Scott, C. K., Grella, C. E., Nicholson, L., & Dennis, M. L. (2018). Opioid recovery initiation: Pilot test of a peer outreach and modified Recovery Management Checkup intervention for out-of-treatment opioid users. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 86, 30-35.
- 6 Tracy, K., Burton, M., Nich, C., & Rounsaville, B. (2011). Utilizing peer mentorship to engage high recidivism substance-abusing patients in treatment. *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, 37(6), 525-531.
- 7 Andreas, D., Ja, D. Y., & Wilson, S. (2010). Peers reach out supporting peers to embrace recovery (PROSPER): a center for substance abuse treatment recovery community services program. <u>Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly, 28(3), 326–338</u>.
- 8 Bellamy, C., Kimmel, J., Costa, M. N., Tasai, J., Nulton, L., Nulton, E., & O'Connell, M. (2019). Peer support on the "inside and outside": building lives and reducing recidivism for people with mental illness returning from jail. *Journal of Public Mental Health*, 18(3),188-198.
- 9 Min, S. Y., Whitecraft, J., Rothbard, A. B., & Salzer, M. S. (2007). Peer support for persons with co-occurring disorders and community tenure: a survival analysis. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, 30(3), 207-213.
- 10 Corrigan, P. W., & Penn, D. L. (1999). Lessons from social psychology on discrediting psychiatric stigma. <u>The American Psychologist, 54(9), 765-776.</u>
- 11 Miyamoto, Y., & Sono, T. (2012). Lessons from peer support among individuals with mental health difficulties: a review of the literature. *Clinical Practice and Epidemiology in Mental Health*, *8*, 22-29.
- 12 Nixon, S. (2020). 'Giving back and getting on with my life': peer mentoring, desistance and recovery of ex-offenders. *Probation Journal*, 67(1), 47-64.
- 13 Phillips, K., Harrison, J., & Jabalee, C. (2019). <u>Supervising Peer Workers: A Toolkit for Implementing and Supporting Successful Peer Staff Roles in Mainstream Mental Health and Addiction Organizations</u>. Kitchener, ON: Centre for Excellence in Peer Support, CMHA Waterloo Wellington.
- 14 White, W. (2009). <u>Peer-based addiction recovery support: History, theory, practice, and scientific evaluation</u>. Chicago, IL: Great Lakes Addiction Technology Transfer Center and Philadelphia Department of Behavioral Health and Mental Retardation Services.
- 15 Ibid.
- 16 Phillips, K., Harrison, J., & Jabalee, C. (2019). <u>Supervising Peer Workers: A Toolkit for Implementing and Supporting Successful Peer Staff Roles in Mainstream Mental Health and Addiction Organizations</u>. Kitchener, ON: Centre for Excellence in Peer Support, CMHA Waterloo Wellington.
- 17 Ibrahim, N., Thompson, D., Nixdorf, R., Kalha, J., Mpango, R., Moran, G., Mueller-Stierlin, A., Ryan, G., Mahlke, C., Shamba, D., Puschner, B., Repper, J., & Slade, M. (2020). A systematic review of influences on implementation of peer support work for adults with mental health problems. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 55(3), 285-293.

- 18 University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus [University of Colorado]. (2015). <u>Dimensions: peer support program toolkit</u>.
- 19 Smith, Dennis to State Medicaid Directors, August 15, 2007, Center for Medicaid and State Operations, <u>SMDL</u> #07-011
- 20 United States Government Accountability Office. (2020). <u>Substance use disorder: Medicaid coverage of peer support services for adults.</u>
- 21 Smith, Dennis to State Medicaid Directors, August 15, 2007, Center for Medicaid and State Operations, <u>SMDL</u> #07-011.
- 22 Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission. (2019). <u>Recovery support services for Medicaid beneficiaries with a substance use disorder.</u>
- 23 Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2020). <u>State-by-state directory of parent peer support training and certification programs</u>.
- 24 United States Government Accountability Office (2018). <u>Leading practices for state programs to certify peer support workers</u>. United States Government Accountability Office.
- 25 Ibid.
- 26 Ibid.
- 27 Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2020). <u>State-by-state directory of peer recovery coaching training and certification programs</u>.
- 28 Ibid.
- 29 Ibid.
- 30 Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (n.d.). Federal laws and regulations.
- 31 Adams, W. E., & Lincoln, A. K. (2021). Barriers to and facilitators of implementing peer support services for criminal justice-involved individuals. *Psychiatric Services*, 72(6), 626-632.
- 32 Ibid.
- 33 Philadelphia Department of Behavioral Health and Intellectual Disabilities Services & Achara Consulting Inc. (2017). <u>Peer support toolkit</u>.
- 34 New York Peer Specialist Certification Board (NYPSCB). (2018). <u>NYPSCB code of ethical conduct & disciplinary procedures</u>.
- Figley, C. (1995) Compassion fatigue as secondary traumatic stress disorder: An overview in CR Figley. In Compassion Fatigue: Coping with Secondary Stress Disorder in Those Who Treat the Traumatised; Brunner/ Mazel: Bristol, UK.
- 36 Pfifferling, J., & Gilley, K. (2000). Overcoming compassion fatigue. Family Practice Management, 7(4), 39-44.
- 37 Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (2014). *Tips for disaster responders:* Understanding compassion fatigue. <u>HHS Publication No. SMA-14-4869</u>
- 38 Pirelli, G., Formon, D. L., & Maloney, K. (2020). Preventing vicarious trauma (VT), compassion fatigue (CF), and burnout (BO) in forensic mental health: Forensic psychology as exemplar. <u>Professional Psychology: Research and Practice</u>, 51(5), 454–466.
- 39 Maslach, C., & Jackson, S. E. (1981). The measurement of experienced burnout. <u>Journal of Occupational</u> Behavior, 2, 99-113.
- 40 Ibid.
- 41 The OMNI Institute. (2020). Measuring outcomes of peer recovery support services.

- 42 Ahmed, A. O., Hunter, K. M., Mabe, A. P., Tucker, S. J., & Buckley, P. F. (2015). The professional experiences of peer specialists in the Georgia mental health consumer network. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 51, 424–436.
- 43 Philadelphia Department of Behavioral Health and Intellectual Disabilities Services & Achara Consulting Inc. (2017). Peer support toolkit.
- 44 Park, S. G., Chang, B. H., Mueller, L., Resnick, S. G., Eisen, S. V. (2016). Predictors of employment burnout among VHA peer support workers. *Psychiatric Services*, 67(10), 1109-1115.
- 45 Ibid.
- 46 Philadelphia Department of Behavioral Health and Intellectual Disabilities Services & Achara Consulting Inc. (2017). Peer support toolkit.
- 47 Ibid.
- 48 Wahl, C., Hultquist, T. B., Struwe, L., Moore, J. (2018). Implementing a peer support network to promote compassion without fatigue. *The Journal of Nursing Administration*, 48(12), 615-621.
- 49 Philadelphia Department of Behavioral Health and Intellectual Disabilities Services & Achara Consulting Inc. (2017). Peer support toolkit.
- 50 Mental Health and Addiction Association of Oregon. (n.d.). Peer support for peer support workers.
- 51 White, W. (2007). Ethical guidelines for the delivery of peer-based recovery support services.
- 52 The OMNI Institute. (2020). Measuring outcomes of peer recovery support services: a literature review.
- 53 Ibid.
- 54 Ibid.
- 55 Vilsaint, C. L., Kelly, J. F., Bergman, B. G., Groshkova, T., Best, D., & White, W. (2017). development and validation of a brief assessment of recovery capital (barc-10) for alcohol and drug use disorder. <u>Drug and Alcohol Dependence</u>, 177, 71–76.

About the Legislative Analysis and Public Policy Association

Based in Washington D.C., and led by and comprised of experienced attorneys, the Legislative Analysis and Public Policy Association is a 501(c)(3) nonprofit organization whose mission is to conduct legal and legislative research and analysis and draft legislation on effective law and policy in the areas of public safety and health, substance use disorders, and the criminal justice system. LAPPA produces timely model laws and policies that can be used by national, state, and local public health, public safety, and substance use disorder practitioners who want the latest comprehensive information on law and policy as well as up-to-the-minute comparative analyses, publications, educational brochures, and other tools ranging from podcasts to fact sheets. Examples of topics on which LAPPA has assisted stakeholders include naloxone laws, law enforcement/community engagement, alternatives to incarceration for those with substance use disorders, medication-assisted treatment in correctional settings, and the involuntary commitment and quardianship of individuals with alcohol or substance use disorders.





